
Fisherman Bobby Hoult harvesting WA cockles from the pristine waters of the World Heritage listed environment of Shark Bay.
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From the Chair

As I reflect on my first year as 
Chair, I firstly want to say what 
a privilege to work alongside a 
group of committed professionals 
including WAFIC Directors and 
staff. In particular, I would like to 
acknowledge the tireless work 
of the Chief Executive Officer in 
securing the funding agreement 
with the McGowan Labor 
government. 

The Hon. Dave Kelly MLA, Minister for 
Fisheries, has shown his high regard for 
the fishing industry by supporting the 
ongoing funding arrangement for the next 
3 years. This is a significant achievement, 
one that shows the government’s ongoing 
commitment to the industry and its peak 
body. It allows WAFIC to continue to align 
its strategic direction to industry needs.

When I was elected at the 2017 AGM, 
I made a commitment to lead the 
conversation and work with other industry 
bodies, not just our traditional allies. 
This was to build trusting relationships 
based on mutual respect and to create 
opportunities that bring benefits to our 
seafood industry.

This pledge has seen WAFIC connect 
with industry groups such as Wines WA, 
Vegetables WA, the Australian Hotels 
Association WA (AHAWA), Hospitality Group 
Training (HGT), Restaurant and Catering 
Industry Association of Australia, Rottnest 
Island Authority, Tourism WA, Western 
Australian Farmers Federation and other 
key peak industry bodies.

By forming a relationship with the 
Australian Hotels Association WA (AHAWA), 
we have progressed origin labelling to 
encourage the hospitality industry to 
voluntarily promote “provenance” on their 

menus. This is a step in the right direction 
for the country of origin debate – one that 
WAFIC is continuing to lobby government, 
alongside Seafood Industry Australia (SIA). 
Seafood labelling provenance is important 
for our local industry to promote positive 
messaging, inform consumers and gain 
support for our local fishers. 

Our conversations with politicians, 
government agencies and other peak 
bodies has seen a strong interest of not 
only our seafood industry, but the people 
that make up our dynamic industry. Face-
to-face discussions have allowed us to 
stress the importance of WA’s seafood 
producers to the community, for example 
through WAFIC’s proposed seafood trail, 
a concept that has been around for a 
while and flagged by the CEO at the 2017 
industry forum.. 

Although early days for the seafood 
trail, the project is set to be an 
important development for the WA 
seafood industry to preserve its history, 
highlight its valuable contribution and 
create opportunities for our fishers. We 
have successfully conducted multiple 
meetings with Tourism WA who are 
committed to in kind support with 
discussions for funding to follow. The 
trail will commence as a trial, most likely 
from Mandurah to Albany, with Northern 
WA to follow on from learnings from the 
experimental initiative. 

Prior to the 2017 AGM, WAFIC hosted an 
open industry forum, where members 

had the opportunity to voice their opinion 
on the direction of the organisation. It was 
identified that there was a need to modernise 
the constitution and restructure WAFIC to 
enhance its relevance to industry, members, 
community and government. A new strategy 
and direction has become a priority for the 
WAFIC Board and will continue to be into the 
new financial year.

2018 marks 50 years of WAFIC – an 
organisation made by industry for industry. 
It also gives us a time to reflect on the peak 
body over the course of the past five decades 
including the wins, successes, developments 
and commitment from industry who have 
shaped how it operates. Although the WA 
seafood sector is a diversity of opinions –  
we all want a shared desire; a sustainable 
and resilient fishing industry for generations 
to come.

In closing, I would also like to pay tribute to 
Dexter Davies after his passing earlier this 
year. Dexter was a champion of regional 
WA and played a pivotal role in the seafood 
industry as Chairman of the Aquaculture 
Development Council in the early 2000s, 
Director on the WAFIC Board from 2007-2010, 
and a former Chief Executive Officer of the 
Western Rock Lobster Council. A former 
Member of the Legislative Council 1998-2001, 
he also played an active role in mentoring 
young Nationals. His intelligence, influence, 
beaming smile and his constant willingness 
to assist will be missed throughout the 
seafood industry and regional WA. A life well 
lived but cut short at 66.

Katie Hodson-Thomas  
Independent Chair 

“Although the industry is a diversity of opinions – we all 

want a shared desire; a sustainable and resilient fishing 

industry for generations to come.”
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From the CEO
John Harrison 
Chief Executive Officer 

2018 marks 50 years of WAFIC,  
a year where we can look back  
on the achievements and 
indeed the areas where we were 
challenged in defending the 
interests of Western Australia’s 
aquaculture, pearling and 
commercial fishing industries.  

It was 1968 when WAFIC’s genesis was 
formed because of like-minded industry 
representatives who felt the need for 
members to have a united voice. As we 
mark this important milestone, it is a time 
for us to also reflect on the new direction 
that the organisation will be heading into 
the future. 

The 2017 AGM saw us welcome the 
appointment of our first female 
independent Chair, Katie Hodson-Thomas. 
Katie has been devoted to learning about 
our industry, meeting members and 
ensuring WAFIC leverages her skillset in 
strategy and tourism. With the retirement 
of Kym Coffey and Arno Verboon from the 
Board, a vote to fill the vacant positions 
saw industry stalwarts Leonie Noble 
and Tony Westerberg elected by WAFIC 
members to the Board.

The Board has been working hard to 
ensure that WAFIC’s strategic direction 
remains a priority – a topic that was 
thoroughly discussed at the 2017 open 
industry forum. In its current form, 
WAFIC provides strategic leadership 
and advocacy on significant matters. As 
we head towards 2020, WAFIC’s goals, 
objectives and structure will change to 
reflect new requirements and outcomes 
for the WA’s seafood sector. WAFIC 
needs to change and adapt in order to 
continue to meet the challenges facing 
our industry. 

In order to progress WAFIC’s long-
term strategy, there needed to be 
confirmation from government of a new 
funding arrangement. After months of 
negotiations, we are pleased to advise 
that the Fisheries Minister, The Hon. 
Dave Kelly, has signed a 3 year-funding 
agreement for WAFIC. This is welcomed 
news that showcases the government’s 
confidence in our peak industry body. 

A pillar that will remain the upmost priority 
throughout WAFIC’s strategic direction is 
resource access. The Chair and I have had 
extensive meetings with the Minister for 
Fisheries and staff from the Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD), to discuss issues 
impacting industry. 

This year has seen WAFIC working closely 
with the newly established national 
peak body Seafood Industry Australia 
(SIA) to collaborate on areas such as 
the Commonwealth Marine reserves 
planning process, country of origin 
labelling and other national matters. Upon 
writing this, we have received news that 
Commonwealth Marine Park Management 
Plans have been upheld in Senate – a 
good outcome for industry considering 
the draconian alternate.

After twelve years of consultation, 
reviews and deliberations – it is 
welcoming to hear positive news for the 
industry. We will work closely with SIA 
to ensure that any of our professional 
fishers who are negatively impacted by 
these plans will receive adequate and 
appropriate compensation. 

Building community support and 
promoting the industry to the public 
has and will remain another important 
focus. Apart from festivals and events 
throughout the 2017-18 period such 
as the Albany Festival of the Sea and 
the Mandurah Crab Festival, social 
media has been one of WAFIC’s greatest 
communication tools.

It has allowed us to connect to the 
Western Australian community quickly 
and showcase that the industry is open 
and accountable. Social media has given 
the industry a chance to say, ‘there is 
nothing to hide.’ It is of importance that 
the community understands where their 
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seafood comes from, the sustainability 
of this renewable resource and the 
contributions made by industry to the 
economy, community and society in 
general. Social licence will continue to be 
tested and developed in the digital space. 

Another major milestone for WAFIC this 
year was the discussion of the seafood 
trail – an important concept to showcase 
the value of Western Australia’s seafood 
industry to the community. Still in 
early days, WAFIC has initiated several 
discussions with potential partners and a 
scoping paper has now been developed. 
The next step is to develop a business 
case to not only launch the program but 
to embed processes to assure its viability 
into the future as a self-supported 
endeavour.

Earlier this year saw the commencement 
of Project SeSAFE, initiated by Austral 
Fisheries and supported by Fisheries 
Research and Development Corporation 
(FRDC), Australian Maritime Safety 
Authority (AMSA) and the commercial 
fishing industry. The project is designed 
to improve safety performance in the 
Australian fishing and aquaculture 
industry by aiming for zero deaths at sea, 
reduced work place injuries and change 
the culture surrounding safety in our 
industry. It has been encouraging to see 
industry collaborate and work together to 
ensure that information on safety at sea 
is readily available. 

I am also delighted to announce WAFIC 
has secured a three-year national seismic 
research coordination role, funded by the 

FRDC, earlier this year. The outcomes of 
this project will provide ongoing support 
to protect commercial fishermen’s access 
rights by identifying areas of seismic and 
commercial fishing research voids with 
the aim for these research gaps to be 
addressed.

In summary, one of the first industries in 
Western Australia was the commercial 
fishing industry sector. Still to this day 
it remains one of the most important 
primary industries. The history, people 
and culture are what we aim to preserve 
and celebrating 5 decades of WAFIC gives 
us that opportunity to reminisce but 
importantly prepare for the challenges 
that industry will face in the future. 

Recfishwest Chief Executive Officer 
Andrew Rowland and WAFIC Chief 
Executive Officer John Harrison promoting 
WA’s sustainable fishing industry.

“It was 1968 when WAFIC’s genesis was formed because of like-minded industry 

representatives who felt the need for members to have a united voice. As we mark 

this important milestone, it is a time for us to also reflect on the new direction that 

the organisation will be heading into the future.“
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Resource Access - Fisheries Update
Accurate Resource Assessments – 
Mortality Levels
Management decisions around 
key stock assessments and the 
effectiveness of stock recovery 
programs rely heavily on accurate 
data being available. Methods 
such as catch returns and log 
books provide the commercial 
fishing industry with precise catch 
information. However, information 
from the recreational sector is 
typically only available for those 
who operate from a boat sector via 
biennial telephone ‘iSurveys’.

The most recent iSurvey revealed that 
recreational fishers release fish at very 
high rates (>70%) as they are undersize 
or not wanted. Inaccurate information 
regarding post-release fish mortality 
has been raised consistently by WAFIC. 
The impacts of barotrauma from the 
stress of deep-water capture and return 
to the water of popular species such 
as pink snapper and dhufish need to 
be addressed in the overall resource 
strategy. 

Simply put, barotrauma fish returned 
to the water have a low survival rate, 
or, when returned to the water in this 
weakened state become easy prey 
for sharks. In addition, surviving fish 
traumatised by deep-water capture and 
subsequent return will also suffer impacts 
on spawning success.

WAFIC has been in ongoing liaison with 
the Department of Primary Industries and 
Regional Development (DPIRD) research 
sector. It is expected that the Department 
will be taking post release mortality 
into account in fisheries such as in the 
West Coast Demersal Scalefish Fishery’s 
(WCDSF) demersal stock assessment. 
This is to assess the total mortality and 
determine the appropriateness of current 
catch targets and recovery trajectories. 

To support the above proposed research 
initiative, it is vitally important that 
the profile of public messaging around 
post release mortality is raised. This is 
to ensure recreational fishers are alert 
and aware of the significant negative 
implications of a catch and release 
approach. Demersal species are not 
sportfish. It is also important that 
recreational and commercial fishers alike 
refrain from high-grading catch. 

Post release mortality implications have 
also been discussed as part of the size 
limit review. Generally, smaller and/ or 
undersized fish returned to the water 
often still die and contribute to the total 
mortality. Suggestions have been made 
to remove size limits on certain species, 
particularly those that suffer high 
post-release mortality such as demersal 
species. Another possible suggestion is 
to allow this smaller fish to be included 
in the commercial catch quota or be 
included in the recreational bag limit.

RESOURCE ACCESS TEAM Matt Pember 
Senior Resource Access Officer

Mannie Shea  
Executive Officer Resource Access  
– Oil and Gas

“Simply put, barotrauma 

fish returned to the 

water have a low survival 

rate, or, when returned 

to the water in this 

weakened state become 

easy prey for sharks. 

In addition, surviving 

fish traumatised by 

deep-water capture and 

subsequent return will 

also suffer impacts on 

spawning success.”
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Mediation as a  
Resource Access Solution

Challenges of Commonwealth  
Managed Fisheries and State  
Managed Fisheries Overlap
The Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish 
Fishery (GDSF) in 2018 showed 
exemplary industry leadership 
by initiating significant and 
draconian voluntary reductions 
to their commercial pink snapper 
quota. The fishery also instigated 
closure areas to protect pink 
snapper spawning to address 
considerable issues with the 
species stock sustainability. 
At the height of the above, 
commercial fishers led tough 
decisions.

During industry consultation the 
recommencement of fishing by operators 
in the Commonwealth-managed 
Western Deepwater Trawl Fishery (WDTF) 
complicated the issue and raised 
significant concerns by state-based 
operators. 

WDTF licence holders (legally) 
recommenced commercial fishing 
activities in the Gascoyne region after 
many years of little or no activity. Part of 
the GDSF overlaps the WDTF – 

9
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In the 2016/17 edition of the 
annual report, WAFIC reported 
on resource sharing issue in the 
Kimberley Gillnet and Barramundi 
Fishery (KGBF) between the sole 
commercial fisher operating area, 
and the Derby recreational fishing 
community. 

Despite several meetings with 
Recfishwest to find an amenable solution 
there was not an agreed way forward. 
Instead, all parties – the commercial 
fisher, Mary Island Fishing Club, the Derby 
Shire, Recfishwest and WAFIC – decided 
on a formal mediation process.

WAFIC wrote to the Minister’s office 
outlining this process and the Minister’s 
office concurred. The Member for 
Kimberley Ms Josie Farrer was also 
supportive of this process.

The independent mediation process 
involved using a senior nationally 
accredited mediator, held in high regard 
in WA, nationally and internationally. The 
mediator worked directly with stakeholder 
representatives and advisors from the 
Derby recreational fishing community, 
local government and representatives and 
advisors from the KGBF. 

Pre-mediation meetings with separate 
parties were held using face-to-face, 

telephone and video discussions followed 
by the formal mediation process and a 
final agreement document.

The mediation process funded equally 
by WAFIC and Recfishwest, will enable 
the licence holder to be supported 
for protection of their asset and 
compensated due to possible enforced 
boundary changes or other losses.

WAFIC believes this could be the first 
of a number of fisheries that may need 
mediation. Funding has been budgeted to 
cover any potential future contingencies. 

a state line fishery and an Australian 
Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) 
trawl fishery - by and large targeting or 
retaining the same species with historic 
WDTF catches including a range of 
scalefish and snapper including pink 
snapper.

AFMA staff responsible for the 
management of the WDTF were unaware 
of the situation in the Gascoyne. As 
a result of an update from WAFIC the 
state and the commonwealth are now 
communicating. AFMA is being generous 
and timely with their information 
sharing (catch data) with DPIRD, whilst 
also adhering to commercial fisher 
confidentiality.

This is now a watching brief whilst all 
stakeholders wait for further data. 
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Industry Communications and  
Stakeholder Engagement 

WAFIC has continued to develop the way it communicates to 
members. One example to ensure industry are kept up-to-date 
with news and opportunities is through a regular email newsflash. 
This newsflash supports the monthly WAFIC newsletter which 
contains an overview of industry news, important industry 
updates, announcements calling for industry assistance and 
stories from our fishers. 

of multiple closures. Although we are 
living in the ‘digital age’ of social media, 
media release distribution continues to be 
part of WAFIC’s key marketing strategy. 

WAFIC continues to progress its social 
media plan, displaying the Western 
Australian seafood online to build 
community support. Another use is to give 
industry a voice. WAFIC has been vocal 
on significant topics including Point Grey 
Marina in Mandurah and issues relating 
to Commonwealth and State Marine 
Reserves. Delving onto social channels 
is new for our industry – and one that 
WAFIC is continuing to see growth and 
engagement. 

Danika Gusmeroli 
Communications Officer 

A standout for WAFIC was the media’s 
pickup of the proposed seafood trail 
throughout many major WA newspapers 
including The West Australian, Sunday 
Times and Mandurah Mail. 6PR interviewed 
WAFIC Chair Katie Hodson-Thomas and 
news website ‘news.com’ also ran an 
article of the proposed trail to lure in 
visitors to WA. 

From this media uptake came a 
staggering amount of interest from 
other peak bodies, Development 
Commissions, industry bodies and 
tourism operators all throughout WA. This 
allowed WAFIC staff and Chair to open 
the door to new networks and contacts. 
As the development of the seafood 
trail continues, WAFIC staff will ensure 
that industry is kept up-to-date with 
developments.

WAFIC issued many media releases 
throughout the 2017/18 year, including 
‘rebuilding Gascoyne snapper fish stocks 
- a priority for commercial industry’ – a 
statement praising the commercial 
industry on the spatial closure they 
proactively promoted, coming off the back 

The WAFIC newsletter has changed 
to make it easier for industry to read. 
Readers can now click a hyperlink to go 
directly to the article of choice. Staff 
wanted to ensure that a mixture of 
information is given such as updates from 
all sectors and appropriate resource links 
while also establishing an educational 
platform about our industry for the 
general community.   

Fishers and industry remain WAFIC’s main 
priority. Throughout the 2017/18 period, 
when there was a sudden change in 
policy, legislation or a sector update, our 
resource access staff ensured that the 
correct correspondence was actioned as 
a matter of urgency and sent to industry 
members affected.

This year has seen ongoing engagement 
with external stakeholders including 
government, media outlets and not-
for-profit organisations. Staff met with 
journalists from key media channels 
throughout WA to develop new 
relationships, educate them about WA’s 
seafood industry and ensure they are 
aware of industry challenges. It has been 
rewarding to see journalists actively 
seeking input from WA’s seafood sector.
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Building Community Support

The crew behind prawn trawler 
‘Belo Star’/ Cristina (left), skipper 
Greg (centre) and Teale (right).

Social Media
WAFIC’s Building Community Support (BCS) 
Committee and Board have been dedicated to 
progressing and growing the social licence of 
WA’s commercial fishing, pearling and aquaculture 
sectors across social media channels (primarily 
Facebook and Instagram). 

Having an online presence on social media is vital for staff to 
be able to tell the stories of industry, provide accurate facts 
and give up to date news. A priority and part of WAFIC’s digital 
marketing strategy for 2017/18 was to ensure that content 
was constant, interesting and unique to WA’s commercial 
seafood industry. From local retailer stories, to fisher profiles 
and even historic items - there was something for all ages and 
personalities. 

Online channels have allowed WAFIC to give industry a voice 
and have a say when it matters. Staff can connect with Western 
Australian seafood consumers better and be able to inform them 
of WA’s seafood sector on a higher level. Whether it is purely 
a blog post, image, video or comment – every time staff share 
content, it gives the chance for the community to react and start 
an important conversation. 

WAFIC is continuing to experience increases in growth and 
engagement primarily due to staff’s mantra of transparency. 
Honestly is becoming WAFIC’s differentiator on digital channels 

as it showcases the WA industry as what it is – sustainable and 
authentic. Building community spirit and understanding of the 
industry also relies on tone of voice – an important strategic 
component to any digital platform. That is why WAFIC’s voice, on 
behalf of industry, is approachable and knowledgeable but stern 
and scientific when needed.

As WAFIC’s social media channels continue to increase in 
followers, so does the risk of the organisation becoming a bigger 
target for groups opposed to the commercial fishing industry, 
or who have a specific agenda. Staff have developed an online 
public policy which states that WAFIC reserves the right to delete 
submissions that contain vulgar language, personal attacks of 
any kind, or comments we deem to be offensive or disparaging. 
Establishing page ground rules allows WAFIC to have an 
overarching obligation in the community conversation 

Social media has run in conjunction with WAFIC’s newsletter 
- sent to an audience made up of industry, government and 
community. It is also an important component of WAFIC’s overall 
building community support pillar. The newsletter aims to bring 
together industry news, again portraying the whole of Western 
Australia’s seafood industry in a positive light. 

WAFIC staff will continue to progress WAFIC’s social media 
strategy into the new financial year and be proactive in ensuring 
that the value of Western Australia’s seafood industry is 
portrayed to the community. 
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SOCIAL MEDIA THROUGHOUT THE YEAR

Go behind the scene’s of WAFIC’s social media with this collection of snaps from the 2017/18 year.

Throughout the 2017/18 year both industry and the community were updated with content from Western Australia’s unique seafood 
sector. A main component was meeting with people from the commercial fishing, aquaculture and pearling industries including 
fishers, divers and deck crew to promote the work that they do and to humanise the seafood sector. Chefs, authors, retailers and 
wholesalers were also recognised through articles and social media content for the role that the play in endorsing WA’s seafood 
industry. 

Clockwise from top left - 
• Head chef Melissa Palinkas from Young George in Fremantle with WA seafood Ambassador Don Hancey promoting local underutilised species such as WA sardines.
• Getting into the festive spirit (from left to right)/ Dave Gilmour, Clayton Donovan and WA seafood ambassador Don Hancey promoting WA seafood for christmas.
• Matt Watson from MSC and Janice Bell from MG Kailis Group promoting WA’s sustainable fishing industry at the Ningaloo Whale Shark Festival.
• WAFIC staff members Mannie Shea and Danika Gusmeroli in Carnarvon at Mareterram head quarters.
•  Skills were put to the test at this year’s HGT, ‘Taste of the Future Cooking Competition.’ The competition, in its 6th year, saw students cook with local seafood  

(a first for the tournament). WAFIC sponsored the competition by supplying South-West Bronze Whaler.

 @WAseafood

https://www.instagram.com/waseafood/
https://www.facebook.com/waseafood
https://twitter.com/waseafood
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Clockwise from top left - 
• Rosemary and river mint red snapper - dinner inspiration!
•  Johan Pas has been commercially collecting shells for 30 years. The photo captures Pas walking on the flats returning from a shore based, low tide excursion with some 

selected Murex shells in Exmouth Gulf
• The team at Hoki Poke (left to right) - Yanni Kailis, Theo Kailis, Samuel Rowlands and Mickey Kailis. All committed to selling fresh, local seafood to their customers.
•  Behind the scenes at the Canning Vale seafood markets which can be described as like a footy match - it’s full of excitement, there is a bit of rough and tumble and there 

is always someone that walks away without a win.
• In Search of Fish and Fortune author Bill Leonard.
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Community Education
WAFIC staff and various industry representatives visited 7 schools 
across WA and spoke at multiple teacher personal development days 
throughout the year to educate hospitality students and their teachers 
about the value of WA’s sustainable seafood industry and career 
possibilities. In each class students had the opportunity to watch a 
chef demonstration – using local, fresh, seafood before being required 
to replicate the recipe.

Programs like the above are important as often school hospitality budgets are 
restricted leaving teachers no choice but to use imported seafood. Teacher and 
student feedback were both positive and it was a good reflection for industry to hear 
the success of the program. 

WAFIC has also been working closely with other like-minded organisations such as 
Hospitality Group Training (HGT) to collaborate in order to promote industry messages. 
This year WAFIC sponsored the ‘Taste of the Future Schools Competition’ which saw 
7 hospitality students from WA schools compete against one another to win an 
apprenticeship scholarship. 

WAFIC sponsored the competition by supplying South-West Bronze Whaler, and after  
3 years of using chicken – it came as a surprise to students! It was pleasing to witness 
young students so passionate about pursuing a career in the hospitality industry. In the 
future, WAFIC will continue to support these aspiring next generation chefs to ensure 
they know of the wonderful products our industry provides.

WA Seafood Ambassador 
We acknowledge Don Hancey’s pivotal role during the 2017/18 financial 
year through his long-standing relationship with our industry members 
and building community support. He is considered a great advocate 
of Western Australia’s seafood industry due to his immense passion 
to work alongside quality producers, assisting them to grow their 
business.

His position as WAFIC’s Seafood Ambassador included providing seasonality recipes, 
promotional material through community news, monthly social media contributions and 
additional promotional ad-hoc opportunities as they arise.

It is pleasing to see chef Don sign up as WAFIC’s Seafood Ambassador for the 2018/19 
financial year and we look forward to working with him for the benefit of our industry.

Don Hancey has been a champion of WA’s seafood industry - 
actively promoting the sustainability of our industry, lesser 
known species, and the people - via social media, events and 
media. In the photo (left) Don was creating simple seafood 
recipes for the festive season. 

Students had the chance to cook with Bronze Whaler 
(sponsored by WAFIC) at the HGT ‘Taste of the Future 
Schools Competition’. It was the first year in the history  
of the contest that they had to cook with seafood.
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Festivals and Events

2017 - 18 Highlights
The 2017/18 year saw WAFIC engage with the 
community more than ever. From the Albany Festival 
of the Sea, Mandurah Crab festival and the biennial 
State Seafood Awards – the WA seafood industry 
was heavily promoted to the Western Australian 
community.

2017 State Seafood Awards 
Held biennially the State Seafood Awards recognise the 
achievements and successes of Western Australian seafood 
industry. The 2017 event held in August, was officially opened 
by the Minister for Fisheries, the Hon. Dave Kelly MLA in front 
of 350 participants made up of industry, media, government 
and community. Attendees enjoyed an array of fresh, local and 
sustainably caught Western Australian seafood dishes created 
by 13 well-known local chefs and coordinated by WAFIC’s 
Seafood Ambassador Don Hancey. From the creativity, texture, 
colours, presentation and portion control – the dishes were 
nothing short of world class. 

The event was supported by a number of sponsors including, 
Westpac Banking Corporation (Gold event sponsor), Fisheries 
Research and Development Corporation (Silver event sponsor), 
individual sponsors for each of the award categories and 
seafood contributor sponsors.

Nominations for the Awards were received in mid-June and 
winners were selected by a panel of judges which included 
Wines of WA Chief Executive Officer, Larry Jorgenson, former  
WA Farmers Chief Executive Officer, Stephen Brown and Westpac 
Banking Corporation Relationship Director, Simon Burke.

WAFIC would like to once again extend its congratulations to 
all winners at this prestigious event – one that recognises the 
valuable contribution of the fishing industry’s achievements. 
The achievements were made more significant by the challenges 
faced by the seafood and fishing industry such as red tape, 
high Australian dollar and the escalating cost of living and doing 
business in WA. 

The 2017 State Seafood Awards is an important event, highlighting major 
achievements across industry.

Congratulations were in order to the husband and wife duo behind Ocean and 
Paddock who won the state award for best fish and chips. The young couple are 
committed to providing the public with WA seafood - and also educating them 
about the different species, and the sustainability of our industry. Keep up the 
great work!  



16

Mandurah Crab Festival
The award-winning event had over 
120,000 attendees and a strong media 
presence from the likes of Channel 7, GWN 
and Nova 93.7 that drew upon its 20th 
anniversary. The objective of the event is 
simple – promote not only the Peel region 
as a tourism destination, but the native 
blue swimmer crab - a shared resource of 
both commercial and recreational fishers.

The weekend provided an important 
opportunity for the team from the Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) and WAFIC 
to not only promote sustainability of 
WA fisheries but underutilised, often 
misrepresented, local species. 

WAFIC’s Seafood Ambassador Don Hancey 
wowed the crowds with his crafted 
mouth-watering samples of ‘banksia 
smoked mullet with a dollop of lemon 
myrtle mayo, sprinkled with chives.’ 
Minister for Fisheries, The Hon. Dave 
Kelly, joined Don Hancey and MSC global 
ambassador Bart van Olphen on the main 
stage for a cooking demonstration – 
educating consumers about where local 
seafood comes from, the sustainability of 
our fisheries and how to cook with mullet. 

Mr Kelly stated to the crowd that the 
state government is very pleased and 
proud that WA takes sustainable fishing 
seriously.

Fisher Damien Bell and Seafood Ambassador Don 
Hancey promoting WA’s sustainable fisheries at 
the 2018 Mandurah Crab Festival. Festival goers 
thoroughly enjoyed Don’s samples of smoked mullet 
- and couldn’t believe the species was once only 
considered as bait.

Ningaloo Whale Shark Festival
The 2018 Ningaloo Whale Shark Festival was the perfect 
platform for MG Kailis, WAFIC and MSC to demonstrate the 
environmentally-friendly commercial fishing practices in 
the industry. With a full replica prawn trawler, red carpet, 
enthusiastic staff and lots of giveaways – the marquee become 
an action-packed, educational area where the community could 
see first-hand the value of WA’s commercial fishing industry. 
And for major sponsor MG Kailis, it provided the chance to 
connect to the community face-to-face, humanise the industry 
and promote the important and responsible role the commercial 
fishing industry has played to the community of Exmouth and will 
play into the future.

A hand-made replica prawn trawler was a feature in the stall - loved by the 
community (and staff). It was named after long serving MG Kailis Group staff 
member, Janice Bell. 
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13th Australian National Shell Show 
WAFIC’s Building Community Support 
(BCS) Committee were all in agreeance to 
sponsor the 13th Australian National Shell 
Show organised by the WA Shell Club. 
The show featured both competitive and 
non-competitive displays of beautiful, 
interesting shell specimens from Australia 
and around the world. Visitors also had 
the chance to shop for shells, books 

and more. The Australian National Shell 
Show is organised by shell clubs every 
two years, rotating through different 
states allowing, dealers, sellers, divers 
and the public the chance to meet with 
other collectors to exchange views and 
information and purchase or swap shells. 
1500 people attended this year’s event.

Albany Festival of the Sea 
WAFIC have proudly sponsored this 
event since its inception in 2008 and 
were again there this year with a display 
to help educate the community about 
WA’s sustainable fisheries. Hosted by 
the Albany Maritime Foundation, 2018 
marked 10-years of the rural festival, 
which has grown immeasurably in both 
size and significance over the years. 
Patrons had the opportunity to watch 
celebrity chef Don Hancey who joined in 
on the seafood celebrations by hosting a 
series of cooking demonstrations on how 
to get the best out of local WA seafood. 
Completing 3 sessions throughout the 
day, Don cooked with local crustaceans, 
salmon, sardines, herring and reef fish. 
Attendees also had the chance to enjoy 
a variety of food stalls including burgers 
made with local herring – to promote the 
oily, often-misrepresented fish. 

Western Australia and South Africa are home to some 
of the richest and rarest shells in the world – making 
WA collections highly sought by shell enthusiasts 
across the world. The ‘golden’ zoila (above) was on sale 
for $40,000 due to it’s rarity.  

The Albany Festival of the Sea is an important regional 
event for WAFIC staff to educate the community 
about the first-hand value of WA’s commercial fishing 
industry. 

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council 2017 / 2018 Annual Report
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Fisheries Update

Abalone
The Abalone Industry Association 
of WA (AIAWA) will begin the formal 
agreement to receive Executive 
Officer (EO) services from the 
newly formed Southern Seafood 
Producers (WA) Association 
(SSPWA) after the appointment of 
their inaugural EO, Don Nicholls.

The agreement between the two 
organisations is further strengthened with 
the AIAWA Chair, Peter Rickerby, taking 
on the role of Treasurer for the SSPWA. 
AIAWA is looking forward to working with 
Don and the SSPWA in the future and 
would also like to congratulate him on his 
appointment. 

The WA abalone fishery became the 
first abalone fishery in the world to 
receive the Marine Stewardship Council 
(MSC) certification in April 2017. This 
achievement was celebrated by a launch 
event in October 2017, held in Esperance 
at the Esperance Bay Yacht Club with the 
Minister for Fisheries, the Hon. Dave Kelly 
MLA in attendance, presenting AIAWA with 
their MSC certificate.

The event was also attended by WAFIC 
CEO John Harrison and staff, Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) staff, abalone 
divers and owners. AIAWA would like to 
thank Esperance Abalone, WAFIC, DPIRD, 
the Fisheries Research Development 
Corporation (FRDC), Marine Stewardship 
Council (MSC) and Scientific Certification 
Systems (SCS) Global for their involvement 
and support of this event. Also, a special 
thank you to Susan Bell, chief organiser 
for this special occasion, and the 
Esperance Shire President Victoria Brown 
who MC’d the event.  
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The abalone industry has seen an 
increase in the size limit from 140mm 
to 145mm in the Area 2 fishery for both 
greenlip (haliotis laevigata) and brownlip 
(haliotis conicopora) abalone.

This decision was made by licence 
holders in the Area 2 fishery to safeguard 
stocks and ensure the future of the 
fishery. This decision has been followed 
by the Area 3 licence holders who have 
sought an increase to 150mm for both 
species, greenlip and brownlip. While this 
has not yet been gazetted at this stage, 
the licence holders are confident that this 
pro-active step will be accepted by all 
relevant parties and be in place within the 
coming months. 

The Abalone Association Chair Peter 
Rickerby has been nominated by the 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry (CCI) 
to be part of the main dive working group 
for the development of a code of practice 
for all diving work in Western Australia. 
Peter will be working closely with Aaron 
Irving, Executive Officer (EO) of the Pearl 
Producers Association, throughout this 
process to ensure the best outcomes for 
the fishing industries that conduct diving 
activities. 

Peter Rickerby 
Chairman -  
Abalone Industry Association of WA

“The WA abalone fishery became the first abalone fishery in the world to receive the 

Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) certification in April 2017. “

The Hon. Dave Kelly MLA in presenting AIAWA Chair 
Peter Rickerby with the MSC certificate for WA’s 
abalone fishery.
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Fisheries Update

“ACWA partnered with government in the construction 

of the $2.3 million-dollar Albany Shellfish Hatchery 

based in the Albany Aquaculture Park. ACWA assisted 

the project by the employment of a Hatchery expert 

to provide technical advice to Department of Primary 

Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) staff on 

the design and construction of the facility.“

Aquaculture 
The Aquaculture Council 
of WA (ACWA) provides a 
representational role between 
industry and the government in 
relation to policy, legislation 
development and specific 
aquaculture. ACWA has dealt with 
the following issues over the past 
12 months:

Albany Shellfish Hatchery
ACWA partnered with government in the construction of the $2.3 million-dollar Albany 
Shellfish Hatchery based in the Albany Aquaculture Park. ACWA assisted the project 
by the employment of a hatchery expert to provide technical advice to Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) staff on the design and 
construction of the facility. 

The hatchery was officially opened by the Premier Mark McGowan in December 2017 and 
is now producing healthy disease-free juvenile edible oysters, mussels, Akoya oysters 
and black lipped pearl oysters that are being made available to farmers at competitive 
rates for grow out in regional WA.

A governing Committee to oversee the business of the hatchery has been established 
and is Chaired by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Great Southern Development 
Commission with ACWA providing Executive Officer services using funds allocated from 
WAFIC.

Premier Mark McGowan, in December 2017, officially 
opening the Albany Shellfish Hatchery. 
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WA Shellfish Quality Assurance Program
All shellfish farmers in WA, growing edible 
molluscs, are required to have their grow 
out sites approved under the WA Shellfish 
Quality Assurance Program (WASQAP), 
administered by the Department of 
Health under the guidance of the Federal 
Australian Shellfish Quality Assurance 
program. 

The program is complex and expensive 
for current farmers to comply with, and 
as such, ACWA has been negotiating 
with DPIRD for the provision of additional 
resources to be made available to assist 

industry and the Department of Health in 
the administration of the program. This 
has now become a high priority issue 
for industry as the interest in shellfish 
aquaculture increases.

Negotiations are ongoing and particularly 
important as the Albany Shellfish 
Hatchery is likely to result in an increase 
in the grow out of edible shellfish species 
across the state. DPIRD has indicated 
that additional resources can be made 
available.

Aquaculture Zones
ACWA has been on the Working Group to 
establish an Aquaculture Development 
Zone in the Abrolhos Islands. The 
proposed zone covers 3,000-ha over 
two areas including a 2,200-ha area and 
an 800-ha area in the Zeewijk Channel, 
between the Pelsaert and Easter Island 
groups. The 800-ha area is already 
associated with an aquaculture lease and 
licence attached to an existing operator. 
It is expected that the zone will produce 
up to 24,000 tonnes of local marine finfish 
per annum at full production.

Members of the ACWA Committee of 
Management (CoM) are assisting on a 
working group to identify additional 
Aquaculture Zones in the south of the 
state in the same manner as the Midwest 
Aquaculture Zone. The Working Group 
has identified the selection criteria to be 
considered when searching for suitable 
sites. At this stage it is proposed that 
the sites be limited to the production 
of shellfish and be linked to the Albany 
Shellfish Hatchery.

Aquaculture Policies and Legislation
In addition to the above activities, 
ACWA has also been involved in the 
development of aquaculture policies 
relating to: the provision of bonds and 
bank guarantees for aquaculture leases, 
the Aquatic Resource Management 
Regulations, aquaculture biosecurity 
and aquaculture issues at the Abrolhos 

Islands. ACWA has also commenced 
the redrafting of its own Constitution 
to bring it in line with the Associations 
Incorporation Act 2015 and to ensure 
it better serves the activities of the 
organisation into the future.

New ACWA Chair
In December 2017, the ACWA CoM was 
pleased to announce the appointment of 
its first Independent Chair, Ian Stagles. 
Ian was selected for this role due to 
his extensive experience in the fishing 
industry spanning over 30 years’. Career 
highlights include, establishing the 
Western Angler magazine, a renowned 
communication vehicle that promotes 
responsible recreational fishing in WA, 
and founding the peak body representing 
WA recreational fishers, Recfishwest. 
On his appointment, Ian expressed 
his enthusiasm and passion for the 
future development of the aquaculture 
industry in WA. He aims to work closely 
with industry and government to see an 
increase in the gross value of production 
in a range of species such as yellow-tail 
kingfish, abalone, various pearl oyster 
and edible oyster species and freshwater 
crayfish.

Tina Thorne 
Executive Officer -  
Aquaculture Council of WA
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Transitioning to a Managed Fishery and the New Act
Fishery management under the Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) will evolve into a new world order when on 1st January 2019, 
Western Australian fisheries will transition to management under the new Act.

The Aquatic Resource Management Act (ARMA) 2016, will be the primary piece of 
legislation used to manage fishing, aquaculture, pearling and aquatic resources in 
Western Australia. It will replace the 1994 Fish Resources Management Act and the 
1990 Pearling Act. 

If a fishery is not classified as a managed fishery by the end of 2018, they will be 
managed via regulations under the ARMA. The Kimberley Mud Crab, Marine Aquarium Fish 
and Pilbara Crab fisheries are the last of the WA fisheries to be elevated to a managed 
fishery classification or an updated management plan prior to the implementation of 
the ARMA. 

WAFIC’s Resource Access team worked closely with licence holders in these fisheries to 
ensure information made available from the Department met their needs and assist with 
submissions as required.

Codes of Practice Update
In the 2016-17 annual report, WAFIC reported on Codes of Practice – as a means of 
making a public industry statement, on voluntary measures taken by commercial 
fishers, to minimise impacts on the marine environment. 

In 2017, the Lake Argyle Silver Cobbler Fishery met for the first time in three years to 
update their Code of Practice (a industry initiate) to recognise their unique fishing 
environment and the range of Kimberley species now endemic in Lake Argyle.

A comprehensive update of the Pilbara Fish Trawl fishery’s Code of Practice was also 
key to the fishery recently having its export approval renewed by the Commonwealth for 
a further three years.

Fisheries Update

Northern 
Fisheries

2018 saw a fishery 
management transition with 
the handing over of files for 
fisheries from the Swan River 
to the South Australian border 
to our colleague Don Nicholls, 
Executive Officer at the 
Southern Seafood Producers 
(WA) Association (SSPAWA). 
WAFIC extends a huge welcome 
to Don and wishes him the best 
in his new role.

With the southern fisheries 
now coming under the 
jurisdiction of the SSPAWA, it 
has enabled WAFIC to redirect 
internal resources to provide 
an additional focus on an area 
of crucial commercial fishing 
overlap. Dr Matt Pember is 
now the lead contact for the 
northern fisheries (not aligned 
to a Sector Body), supported 
by Mannie Shea. Mannie will 
spend the majority of her time 
focusing on oil and gas issues 
and managing WAFIC’s FRDC oil 
and gas / seismic project.
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Shark Bay Blue Swimmer Crab

The Shark Bay Crab Fishery targeting 
blue swimmer crabs Portunus armatus 
has over the past ten plus years 
developed into becoming Australia’s 
highest producing blue swimmer crab 
fishery. 

Like other Western Australian fisheries, 
the marine heatwave of 2011 coupled 
with localised multiple flooding events 
(the Gascoyne River impacting regional 
ocean salinity levels) resulted in a 
significant decline of the blue swimmer 
crab resource. This resulted in industry 
imposing voluntary no-take on crabs 
from April 2012 until September 2013 
when conditions improved.

The fishery has recovered well with a 
boom year, almost at pre-heatwave 
peak catching in the 2016-2017 season. 
This was followed up with very strong 

catching of good sized crabs in 2017-
2018. 

Commercial trap catch rates 
significantly improved over the 2016-17 
summer months to be above historical 
levels, consistent with high residual 
legal biomass during November 2016. 
During June 2017, the highest level of 
peak spawning biomass was recorded. 
This improvement in stock status 
enabled the Total Allowable Commercial 
Catch (TACC) to be increased from 400 to 
450 tonnes.

The fishery was assessed under the 
provisions of the Commonwealth’s 
Environment Protection and Biodiversity 
Conservation (EPBC) Act in 2015 and has 
been accredited for export for a period 
of ten years (reassessment in 2025).
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Shark Bay Developmental Cockle Fishery

Shark Bay fishers Bobby Hoult and John 
Craike are coming to the end of their 
second three-year exemption to develop 
a cockle fishery located within the 
pristine Shark Bay World Heritage Area.

The commercial harvesting of wild 
cockles, primarily Gomphina undulosa 
and Callista impar, has made good 
progress in this first three years. They 
have been harvested in conjunction 
with regular Department of Health water 
testing to meet Quality Assurance 
Standards. 

The Gascoyne Development Commission 
supported this new fishery in its first 
year to help alleviate the cost of 

establishing the water testing regime 
under the West Australian Shellfish 
Quality Assurance Program.

This developmental fishery has been 
building its capacity whilst also 
establishing protocols and local 
markets. Regular shipments to Perth and 
premium resorts in Western Australia’s 
south-west has enabled fishers to 
build their brand and create market 
awareness. This is an excellent example 
of regional economic diversification.

Fishers look forward to extended activity 
in this fishery with the renewal of their 
exemption at the end of November 2018.

Gascoyne Demersal 
Scalefish Revised Harvest 
Strategy
Commercial fishers in the Gascoyne 
Demersal Scalefish Fishery (GDSF) 
recognised serious issues regarding the 
sustainability of key target species in 
their fishery. As a result, they initiated 
changes to the harvest strategy covering 
the areas where they could fish, and the 
amount of quota to be accessed in the 
2018 and 2019 seasons.

As a result of voluntary industry 
reductions to the commercial catch  
of pink snapper, the quota is down to 50 
tonnes. Closure areas in the Bernier Island 
region to protect spawning pink snapper, 
have now been finalised.

The significant quota and area  
reductions have placed major pressure on 
commercial fishing operations. Despite 
the negative impact, commercial fishers 
were firm in their resolve to protect and 
recover this fishery whilst knowing that 
over the next two years this measure will 
result in immediate financial impact and 
hardship on all fishing operators.

Industry played a leading and proactive 
role in implementing this large quota 
reduction to decease any further threats 
to the pink snapper biomass and to 
protect the biomass in its ongoing 
recovery process.

Recreational fishers and marine tourism 
operators were also part of the Gascoyne 
harvest strategy. A voluntary reduction 
in the commercial snapper quota was 
finalised after robust discussions 
between commercial fishers, the 
recreational sector and marine tourism 
operators.

Industry had suggested larger temporary 
spatial closures but made some 
compromises considering feedback from 
the recreational and marine tourism 
sectors. 
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Fisheries Update

Pearling
It has been a busy year in pearling, not only with the ongoing 
transition of the repealed Pearling Act into the new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act (ARMA) framework, but with other projects including 
Research and Development (R&D) and the Aquatic Deed. 

Working with the oil and gas sector continues to be an activity that has been a priority 
for the pearling industry; especially with respect to seismic exploration in areas 
adjacent to the pearl oyster beds off Eighty Mile Beach. 

It is important to note the particular vulnerability of sessile pearl oysters to seismic 
treatment, given that Eighty Mile Beach (where oysters are collected), is the last 
sustainable wild stock pearl oyster fishing ground in the world.

This ongoing and regular engagement with the oil and gas sector over the past year 
saw the planning and development of North-West Shoals to Shore Research Programme 
(NWSSRP) with the Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS). The purpose of this 
project is to better understand the impact of seismic energy on Pinctada maxima pearl 
oysters and their ecosystem. 

Other key challenges during the past year included the maintenance of access to areas 
declared marine parks by state and federal governments; and continued engagement in 
the Marine Park process.

With respect to Commonwealth Marine reserves, it is noted that we were unable to have 
the Commonwealth Marine Park at Eighty Mile Beach rezoned as a Pearling Zone by the 
Commonwealth Government. This is due to the continued designation of the reserve as 
a multiuse zone extends the vulnerability of the Pinctada maxima pearl oyster fishery to 
seismic effects.

The 2017-18 year also saw the continuation of our work in close and essential 
partnership with WAFIC, through a number of fora.

Aaron Irving 
Chief Executive Officer - Pearl Producers Association
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“Working with the oil and gas sector continues to be an 

activity that has been a priority for the pearling industry; 

especially with respect to seismic exploration in areas 

adjacent to the pearl oyster beds off Eighty Mile Beach. ”
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Fisheries Update

“A number of important engagement events have 

occurred throughout the year, including the SBPTOA 

meeting with Shark Bay’s World Heritage Advisory 

Committee (WHAC) in Denham in late 2017 and 

attending the Indian Ocean Marine Research Centre’s 

Ecosystem Workshop to discuss the impacts of the 

heat wave event on Shark Bay’s World Heritage Area...”
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The fishery underwent its second 
surveillance audit for its Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) certification in 
February and is on target to close out all 
of its conditions by the end of the five-
year assessment period. 

Consistent with the approach taken in the 
Northern Prawn and Exmouth Gulf Prawn 
Fisheries, the SBPTOA has initiated some 
new crew programs into the SBPF this 
year, in keeping with its requirements 
under MSC certification.

In March this year, the SBPTOA voted to 
adopt a new constitution that aligns with 
the Associations Incorporation Act 2015. 
At this time Toby Abbott took on the role 
as Chairman and Simon Little as Vice-
Chairman. Subsequent to this, Mareterram 
Fisheries resigned from the SBPTOA citing 
the changes in governance as the main 
driver. 

Remaining members now include 
Australian Prawn Investments (Kailis 
Bros), Shark Bay Seafoods, Correia Fishing 

Company, Migliori Seafoods, Scallop 
Nominees, Ricciardi Ocean Fresh Products 
and Northern Star Ocean Products. This 
constitution was approved by the relevant 
government agency and an updated 
Certificate of Incorporation was issued in 
May 2018.

Over the year, Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) with the assistance of the 
SBPTOA, worked on finalising the 
long awaited SBPF management plan 
amendments, which provides a simpler 
legislative framework for the fishery. 
This was gazetted in August. It was also 
pleasing to see the Minister approve an 
increase in the Shark Bay Crab Fishery’s 
Total Allowable Commercial Catch (TACC) 
to 650t, as stocks continue to recover 
following the 2010/11 heat wave event.

Earlier this year, representations were 
made by the SBPTOA to DPIRD and the 
Environmental Protection Authority 
(EPA) on Harvest Road’s proposed oyster 
aquaculture venture on Wooramel Bank. 

While it is anticipated the proposed 
small-scale trial is unlikely to have any 
noticeable impact, the SBPTOA remains 
concerned that at full scale the venture 
could disrupt juvenile prawn populations 
which inhabit Wooramel Bank.

A number of important engagement 
events have occurred throughout the 
year, including the SBPTOA meeting with 
Shark Bay’s World Heritage Advisory 
Committee (WHAC) in Denham in late 2017 
and attending the Indian Ocean Marine 
Research Centre’s Ecosystem Workshop 
to discuss the impacts of the heat wave 
event on Shark Bay’s World Heritage Area. 
More recently, the SBPTOA has met with 
DPIRD, the WHAC, the Shire of Shark Bay, 
Recfishwest, community members and 
business owners as part of a Focus Group 
regarding ongoing SBPF fishing access to 
an area adjacent to Denham. Discussions 
are ongoing.

Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators’ 
Association
The 2017 Shark Bay Prawn Fishery (SBPF) season ended on 31 October with 
a total catch of 1608t of prawns, 170t of blue swimmer crabs and 88t of 
scallops.

Felicity Horn  
Executive Officer - Shark Bay Prawn 
Trawler Operators’ Association
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Southern Seafood Producers (WA) 
Association (SSPWA)
The Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association (SSPWA) provides 
a platform for the united professional industry of South and South 
Western Australia to interact with government departments, regulators 
and partners for the first time. 

The late Kim Chance, former Fisheries Minister, and Chair of WAFIC envisioned a sector 
body to support and represent the southern seafood producers of Western Australia. 
With this vision in mind, WAFIC commissioned Dr Peter Rogers (former Executive Director 
of the Department of Fisheries), aided by industry and the WAFIC Industry Consultation 
Unit to produce the Discussion Paper ‘The Case for the Establishment of the Southern 
Seafood Producers (WA) Association’.

In June 2017 the WAFIC Board endorsed the process of establishing a sector body and 
resolved to support an investment of $750,000, over three years, for the development 
of southern fisheries representation, including development and implementation of the 
Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association. 

Following the publication (July 2017) of the Discussion Paper, a Transitional 
Management Committee was established to guide the formation of the Association in 
its infancy. In December of 2017, the Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association Inc. 
was established, with the first Annual General Meeting held in Albany. At this meeting, 
members elected the inaugural Management Committee members of the SSPWA. Since 
then, the Management Committee appointed Richard Stevens as the independent Chair 
of the Association, with Executive Officer, Don Nicholls appointed shortly after. 

The Association has utilised the Rogers’ discussion paper as a starting point as it 
outlines strategic priorities for the SSPWA. These include the need to:

• Strengthen the industry alignment with the food industry; 

• Utilise the opportunities generated by the amalgamation of the former Departments 
of Agriculture and Food; Fisheries; Regional Development and Regional Development 
Commissions; and

• Increase the security and profitability of the seafood sector and SSPWA Members. 

The first six months has coincided with the culmination of numerous long-running 
issues. These matters have galvanised the foundations of trust and professionalism 
with members and stakeholders. In addition, SSPWA has begun creating the operating 
environment that the 21st century food sector requires, including:

• Strong foundation policies where all management regimes should be risk-based, 
peer-reviewed scientifically informed and regulated via Minimum Effective 
Regulation;

Fisheries Update

• Increased security of tenure. SSPWA is 
unable to support any resource access 
closures which are not as a result of 
proven sustainability issues; and

• Engagement from harvest to end-user, 
where seafood producers, the supply 
chain, and consumers are represented. 
In doing so assist in maintaining supply 
to the 2 million Western Australian 
seafood consumers that love local, 
healthy seafood. 
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A fledgling idea has transformed into an 
active and growing organisation with 
the help of many hands. There will be 
challenges ahead, with much to do, but 
for now the Southern Seafood Producers 
have a dedicated voice which is already 
making a difference. 

Don Nicholls 
Executive Officer – Southern Seafood 
Produces (WA) Association 
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Australasian Institute for Spiny Lobster Research
In April 2018, WRL commissioned an independent consultancy to provide a concept 
study report on establishing a WA based Australasian Institute for Spiny Lobster 
Research. Through this report, WRL is convinced that transitioning funding to a new 
WA-based institute for spiny lobster research will produce far superior research and 
development (R&D), innovation, institutional funding, grant funding and return on 
investment across the entire value chain that will drive gross value of production (GVP) 
growth and create new jobs, especially if coupled with tourism and possibly outsourced 
retail opportunities.

The institute would provide a focus for the specific WA lobster related research needs 
in science, economics and product development. Industry must adopt a coordinated 
approach to develop and commercialise new knowledge and technologies to tackle 
industry challenges, especially as we compete on an international level. WA leads 
the way in lobster research expertise, particularly in fisheries management and stock 
forecasting and WRL want to build on this strong foundation.

Western Rock 
Lobster
Western Rock Lobster (WRL)  
has adopted an industry Gross 
Value of Production (GVP) target 
of $1 billion by 2028. While 
ambitious, a doubling of the 
gross value of production of 
our iconic western rock lobster 
industry is achievable and 
will create new jobs, support 
regional development and boost 
the WA economy. 

Fisheries Update
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Industry Research 
Programs
Two research program proposals to the 
value of $1 million have been approved 
through our Industry Partnership 
Agreement (IPA) with the Fisheries 
Research and Development Corporation 
(FRDC). The ‘Digitising the Western Rock 
Lobster Industry’ and ‘Understanding 
the Markets for Western Rock Lobster’ 
research programs will deliver significant 
benefits to industry over the next three 
years and beyond. WRL expect that these 
R&D programs will transition over to the 
institute once it’s established. 

2017 Economic 
Contribution
Launched in December 2017 by Fisheries 
Minister, the Hon. Dave Kelly MLA, the 
economic contribution report prepared 
by ACIL Allen reveals the Western Rock 
Lobster industry contributed $505 million 
and supported more than 2,400 direct 
and indirect jobs across the state in 
2016-17. The report showed the industry 
is a serious player amongst other primary 
producers.

The investment in this economic study is 
a direct outcome of the WRL development 
of the Strategic Plan which is guiding the 
priorities - and next steps of the industry.

Fishing Operations 
Committee
In March 2018, WRL established a 
joint Committee with the Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) to work 
collaboratively on improving the 
operational aspects of the western 
rock lobster fishery when it transitions 
across to the new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act in January 2019.

The purpose of the Fishing Operations 
Committee (FOC) is to provide expert 
advice to the WRL Board on the 
operational aspects of the Western Rock 
Lobster fishery. The active skippers 
selected for the FOC represent the 
different regions and fishing practices of 
the fishery. 

Communications – Coastal Tours and Management 
Meetings
A major objective for WRL over the last 12 months was to improve engagement and 
communication activities to ensure members and stakeholders are better informed, 
have a capacity to engage with industry and be aware of key issues and activities.

WRL held coastal tours in December 2017 and March 2018. The meetings allowed for 
WRL members, fishers and stakeholders to discuss a wide range of industry related 
topics. Representatives from DPIRD joined WRL on these tours and their presence 
allowed members and stakeholders to ask questions and get to know the new DPIRD 
rock lobster management team. In addition, Dr Simon de Lestang, Principal Research 
Scientist from DPIRD attended to address any science specific questions raised during 
the meeting. This collaboration in attendance, presentation and responses were 
beneficial to members and fishers and we aim to continue this for future coastal tours.

The 2018 West Coast Rock Lobster Management Meetings, facilitated by the WAFIC 
Industry Consultation Unit, were held in Fremantle and Geraldton in July 2018. 
The meetings were a valuable opportunity to engage with our many members and 
stakeholders to discuss important issues relevant to the western rock lobster fishery, 
including science, management, safety and WRL activities.

Independent Peer Review of Model and Science
In early 2018, WRL requested to work collaboratively with DPIRD to undertake a prudent 
independent peer review of the science and modelling associated with the West Coast 
Rock Lobster Managed Fishery.

Following the two comprehensive workshops held in April and May-June 2018, the 
independent peer reviewers have provided their final report and recommendations 
to DPIRD and WRL. The review found that the current modelling and assessment 
arrangements appear to be fully capable of dealing with the fisheries requirements and 
that the range of fishery dependent and independent data collected is detailed and 
appropriate.

The findings of this report were presented and discussed at the 2018 Management 
Meetings. DPIRD and WRL will continue to work together to address the 
recommendations of the report.

Executive and Board Level Changes
• In October 2017 the WRL Board welcomed its second Independent Director. Ms 

Karen Brown is the National Director for Perth-based strategic communications 
consultancy, Cannings Purple and provides the WRL Board with additional expertise 
in strategic communications.

• Appointed in June 2018, an Executive Assistant provides WRL with a comprehensive 
skill set that will greatly assist with the function of the CEO and Executive.

This year WRL will continue to be driven by its Risk Management Framework and 
Strategic Plan. It is imperative that WRL provides leadership to create efficient and 
effective vehicles to drive the industry to our $1 billion GVP target.

Matt Taylor 
Chief Executive Officer - Western Rock Lobster 
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State
After many years in process state marine parks 
including: Eighty Mile Beach Marine Park; Ngari Capes 
Marine Park; Lalang-garram Marine Parks (Horizontal 
Falls / Camden Sound / North Lalanggarram); Yawuru 
Ngulagan/Roebuck Bay Marine Park; North Kimberley 
Marine Park; proposed Buccaneer Archipelago  
Marine Park; and the Montebello Islands Marine  
Park- are now in motion. This is in conjunction  
with Commonwealth marine parks proposed for the 
South-West and North-West of Western Australia.

The Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) advised last year that a number of parks would be 
gazetted soon including commercial fishing prohibition zones. It 
was further advised that these zones would not come into effect 
for 12 months from the gazettal date. Eighty Mile Beach was 
gazetted on 6 October 2017 and the zones will come into effect 
in October 2018. The Capes Park was gazetted on 4 January 2018 
and will come into effect early next year. The 12-month grace 
period was to allow any compensation claims (under the Fishing 
and Related Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves) Act 
1997) to be made, and hopefully settled. 

Whilst formal Ministerial advice has gone to 80-mile fishers 
inviting claims, there have been delays in advising Capes fishers.

WAFIC has made representations to DPIRD on clarifying and 
expediting the procedures/processes for fishers’ compensation 
claims.

Commonwealth
In March 2018 the Commonwealth Government 
announced its final decision on its Marine Reserve 
Network. The results were a mixed bag for the 
WA industry with some wins in deep water but 
disappointing outcomes in Geographe Bay and 
Bremer Bay.

Shortly thereafter the Labor Party put forward a disallowance 
motion in the Commonwealth Parliament to overturn the 
proposed networks on the basis that the networks had watered 
down proposed no take zones. This disallowance was defeated 
in the Senate. The Labor Party put forward further disallowance 
motions on a network by network basis. Once again the motion 
was defeated and the plans are now in-place for 10 years from 1 
July 2018.

WAFIC was very active during this period in briefing cross bench 
senators and other Federal Members of Parliament on the 
impacts of various configurations of the proposed networks.

Marine P lanning
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Marine Stewardship Council
The past year has seen the 
continued rollout of the State 
Government’s $14.5million 
Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
program – a four-year initiative 
announced by the Minister for 
Fisheries in September 2012.

The objectives of this initiative are 
to enhance public confidence in the 
sustainable management of WA’s 
commercial fisheries, to meet retail need 
to only serve fish from fisheries either 
independently assessed or in a fishery 
improvement project and to assess the 
state’s fisheries against an independent 
and science-based standard.

The initiative subjects all WA fisheries to a 
MSC pre-assessment which determines if 
a specific fishery can successfully pass a 
full MSC assessment.

Confidential pre-assessment reports 
allow those fisheries that don’t meet 
the necessary benchmark to undertake 
a fisheries improvement program (FIP). 
FIPs are a voluntary and transparent 
way of helping fisheries improve their 
sustainable management practices. 
A policy is being developed to enable 
fisheries to enter into FIPs.

Government funding is made available 
for those fisheries identified as ready to 
enter full MSC assessment – a voluntary 
process – and in addition, the State also 
pays the costs of the first annual audit of 
the fishery following MSC certification.

Carriage of the project is through a 
Certification Advisory Panel made up 
of Department of Fisheries, WAFIC, 
Recfishwest and the MSC representatives. 

The Fisheries Research Development 
Corporation (FRDC) has funded a WAFIC 
project to develop extension and chain 
of custody initiatives through the supply 
chain.

The MSC has appointed Matt Watson as 
its WA based outreach officer. Matt is 
responsible for raising awareness and 

support for the MSC program across a 
broad range of interest groups including 
the supply chain and the community. He 
also works with participating fisheries 
as they develop plans to pursue MSC 
certification.

The website www.wamsc.com.au, 
funded by a FRDC grant, provides 
detailed information about the MSC 
initiative designed to enhance industry 
communication and community 
engagement.

2017/18 was highlighted by a number of 
key activities including:

• Meetings convened with various 
fisheries to determine interest in 
proceeding to full assessment;

• The Pearl fishery was MSC certified in 
September 2017;

• The Abalone fishery was MSC certified 
in October 2017. The launch was 
held in Esperance with the chef from 
Singapore’s Hilton Hotel cooking up an 
abalone storm for guests; 

• Exmouth Gulf and Shark Bay Prawn 
fisheries were subject to their second 
surveillance audits by the certifier MRAG 
in February 2018. Both successfully 
passed the audits;

• In July 2017 the West Coast Deep 
Sea Crab fishery was subject to its 
first annual surveillance audit and 
successfully passed; 

• The Beche de Mer fishery is currently 
undergoing assessment as a test case 
against a proposed expedited process 
designed to speed up assessment 
timelines and reduce costs; 

• In May 2018 Kimberley and Pilbara 
Trap fisheries withdrew from MSC 
assessment due to disagreement 
with the auditors over stock status of 
several species;

• In April 2018 the Gascoyne Demersal 
Scalefish fishery withdrew from MSC 
assessment due to the decline in 
snapper stocks; and

• The Interim Managed Octopus 
Fishery has committed to enter MSC 
assessment and quotes have been 
sought from Certification Assessment 
Bodies to undertake the work. 
Assessment has been delayed due to 
the need for a formal harvest strategy. 

Guy Leyland 
WAFIC-MSC Industry Project Leader 
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Resource Access –  
    Oil and Gas
WAFIC continues to work closely 
with commercial fishing licence 
holders in Western Australia 
regarding their engagement and 
interaction with the offshore oil 
and gas industry. 

Industry is under intense pressure from 
the oil and gas sector because of seismic 
surveys, exploration, deployment of gear 
and now decommissioning of gear. These 
pressures are jeopardising commercial 
fishing access rights, commercial fishing 
sustainability and can even impact on the 
marine environment of many fisheries. 

Marine seismic surveys including the 
range, size and scope have been a 
considerable and ongoing impost on 
the commercial fishing sector. As a 
direct result of concerns expressed by 
the commercial fishing sector, WAFIC 
has secured funding from the Fisheries 
Research and Development Corporation 
(FRDC) for a three-year national seismic 
research coordination role.  

The outcomes of this project will provide 
ongoing support to protect commercial 
fishermen’s access rights by identifying 
areas of seismic and commercial fishing 
research voids. The aim is for these 
research gaps to be addressed.

Consistent processes and best practice 
information for environment plans will 
also be part of this projects remit. The 
published seismic research information 
will be made publicly accessible via an 
open-access site.

This will mean oil and gas proponents, 
students, researchers and environmental 
non-governmental organisations 
(eNGOs), will be able to readily access 
key, Australian-specific oil and 
gas, commercial fishing and marine 

environment research to use in their 
respective roles.

Lack of transparency and poor 
consultation with offshore environment 
plans has exacerbated commercial 
fisher frustration. The National Offshore 
Petroleum Safety and Environment 
Management Authority (NOPSEMA) has 
noted on its website that they have 
“identified through regulatory research 
that poor environmental consultation 
practices in the offshore petroleum 
industry can lead to negative impacts 
on individuals, communities, and 
organisations. 

NOPSEMA also received feedback that 
the current transparency of its decision-
making processes and practices was not 
meeting community expectations.” 

Further to transparency announcements 
by the Minister for Resources and 
Northern Australia, the Hon. Senator 
Matt Canavan (referred to in the 2016 - 
17 WAFIC annual report), NOPSEMA has 
progressed the creation of a Transparency 
Taskforce. 

WAFIC along with Seafood Industry 
Australia (SIA) are members of this 
taskforce and have an active position 
at the table. It is refreshing to see 
the commercial fishing industry being 
included at the forefront of these 
transparency issues. 

Key outcomes include full publication of 
environment plans at the time they are 
submitted to NOPSEMA for assessment 
and the formalising of a public comment 
period on environment plans for all 
exploration activities. 

In short this means we can view an 
environment plan prior to submission and 
ensure all commercial fishing feedback 
has been contained and addressed within 

the plan. A final consultation period will 
be held, to bring any errors or omissions 
to the attention of the regulator.

WAFIC represented industry interests 
at the commercial fishing stand at 
the Australian Petroleum Production 
and Exploration Association (APPEA) 
conference, held in Adelaide in May 2018. 

Mannie Shea from WAFIC and Kirsten 
Rough from the Australian Southern 
Bluefin Tuna Industry Association 
managed this stand on behalf of industry. 
It was an excellent opportunity to meet 
with key oil and gas and seismic operators 
to discuss commercial fishing interests 
and concerns. 

At the conclusion of the conference the 
APPEA Commercial Fishing Roundtable 
reconvened after a lapse of two years. 
This was a productive meeting with 
commercial fishing representation from 
Seafood Industry Australia (SIA), Victoria 
(Seafood Industry Victoria), South 
Australia (Wildcatch South Australia), 
Northern Territory (NT Seafood Council), 
Commonwealth Fishing Association and 
WAFIC (Alex Ogg and Mannie Shea).  

Oil and gas was represented by APPEA as 
well as multiple oil and gas proponents. 
Excellent attendance from a cross-
section of the oil and gas / commercial 
fishing communities resulted in robust 
discussions and keen interest to move 
the memorandum of understanding (MoU) 
forward and achieve key performance 
indicators (KPIs) as originally outlined 
when the MoU was first signed. WAFIC 
notes that many of the ongoing issues 
were part of the FRDC / WAFIC oil and gas 
and seismic project and would result in 
these outstanding KPI’s being achieved.

NOPSEMA has also established a new 
Community and Environment Reference 
Group (CERG), which offers an avenue 
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for NOPSEMA to receive community 
views on their performance in regulating 
offshore petroleum environmental 
management. Commercial fishing is 
represented on this group with Brett 
McCallum, former executive officer of the 
Pearl Producers’ Associations, Mannie 
Shea from WAFIC, Kirsten Rough from 
the Australian Southern Bluefin Tuna 
Industry Association and Pauline Nolle 
from the lobster industry in Victoria. 
These meetings enable reference 
group members to directly engage with 
NOPSEMA, in particular to be at the table 
with NOPSEMA’s Chief Executive Officer 
Stuart Smith and environment head of 
division Cameron Grebe.

WAFIC is continuing to develop its 
commercial arm offering fee-for-service 
consultation, representing commercial 
fishers for oil and gas and other 
engagements. As the Western Australian 
oil and gas industry ages, WAFIC is also 
part of the process regarding future 
decommissioning activities.

Mannie Shea 
Executive Officer Resource Access 
 – Oil and Gas

“WAFIC along with 

Seafood Industry 

Australia (SIA) are 

members of this 

taskforce and have an 

active position at the 

table. It is refreshing 

to see the commercial 

fishing industry being 

included at the forefront 

of these transparency 

issues.” 

Mannie Shea from WAFIC and Kirsten Rough from the 
Australian Southern Bluefin Tuna Industry Association 
representing industry interests on the commercial 
fishing stand at the APPEA conference.
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As a foundation member, WAFIC  
assisted SIA in establishing their  
eight key priorities. 

Social Licence 
SIA recognises the importance of 
securing social licence and through their 
initiative, Our Pledge, they continue to 
explore community expectations of the 
sector and how our industry meets these 
expectations. 

Country of Origin Labelling (CoOL) 
SIA is campaigning for mandatory, 
legislated CoOL for seafood in foodservice 
across Australia. The peak body has been 
involved with the federal government 
working group but as yet there is no real 
progress. They recently established “Team 
CoOL”, made up of interested members 
from across Australia and a PR campaign 
is rolling out. Strong community support 
is needed to raise the political profile of 
this issue.  

Biosecurity 
SIA CEO Jane Lovell is a member of the 
Aquatic Deed Working Group. The Deed 
aims to provide a mechanism for industry 
and government to work together 
to reduce the impacts of disease by 
responding to outbreaks early and 
effectively. SIA recognised the critical 
importance of biosecurity and are also 
lobbying federal government for adequate 
resourcing to ensure appropriate 
protection.

Resource Allocation and Access 
SIA spearheaded a lobbying campaign 
in support of the Commonwealth Marine 
Park management plans. By helping 
coordinate industry, and reaching out to 
recreational fishing organisations, SIA 
were able to present a united voice on 
this issue. They are continuing to pursue 
a fair and reasonable adjustment package 
for fishers negatively impacted by the 
management plans.

Maintaining the Fuel Tax Credit Scheme 
SIA has joined forces with the Fuel Tax 
Alliance to ward off attempts to wind back 
or scrap fuel tax rebate. They have helped 
develop a campaign to bust myths and 
bogus claims about the system.

Oil and Gas Exploration 
SIA is actively working on improving 
relations with oil and gas exploration, 
particularly seismic testing. For example, 
alongside WAFIC, SIA are members of the 
NOPSEMA Transparency Taskforce. They 
have also reinvigorated the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) with Australian 
Petroleum Production and Exploration 
Association (APPEA) and recently 
chaired the Seafood-Petroleum industry 
roundtable.

Mental Health 
Professional fishers suffer from mental 
health problems at twice the base-
rate than other Australian rural sector. 
SIA believes it is not acceptable that 
the industry does not have a tailored 
assistance program. They continue to 
raise this issue with federal politicians 
and are working with Women’s Industry 
Network Seafood Community (WINSC) on 
potential solutions.  

Safety 
The recent tragedy of the FV Dianne was 
a reminder of the need to keep working 
on ways to make our industry safer. SIA 
helped connect Joel Feeney, brother of 
Zac Feeney lost on the Dianne, with AMSA 
and FRDC to explore safety options. SIA 
are also supporters of WAFIC’s SeSAFE 
project, funded by FRDC and have raised 
maritime safety in briefings with federal 
politicians. 

Media Watch 
SIA has established a media watch 
program which calls out and corrects 
misinformation in the media. So far, 
SIA has responded to and received 
revisions/new articles in media including: 
The Fremantle Herald, The Guardian, 
Macquarie Radio network and more. 

Alex Ogg 
WAFIC Operations Manager

Our new national peak body, Seafood Industry Australia (SIA) had a busy inaugural year, bedding down the 
association’s priorities and finalising their Strategic Plan for 2018-23. 

A copy of the SIA Strategy Plan is available at www.seafoodindustryaustralia.com.au/about

SIA WAFIC Update

Although members themselves, WAFIC 
encourages other industry and supply 
chain members to join SIA in their own 
right. There is definitely strength in 
numbers when building upon a strong, 
unified national industry voice to promote, 
protect and develop the Australian 
seafood industry.

Keep up to date with SIA on their 
Facebook page at: www.facebook.com/
SeafoodIndustryAustralia or join SIA’s 
email list by sending your details to 
jessica@seafoodindustryaustralia.com.au. 

SIA CEO Jane Lovell and Assistant Minister for 
Agriculture and Water Resources Richard Colbeck 
reviewing the 2018 Fishery Status Report.

http://www.facebook.com/SeafoodIndustryAustralia
http://www.facebook.com/SeafoodIndustryAustralia


Western Australian Fishing Industry Council 2017 / 2018 Annual Report

37

50 years of WAFIC  

One of the first commercial trades established following settlement 
in the Swan River colony of Western Australia, was fishing. During 
the 1890’s the number of boats and fishermen increased, and the WA 
Parliament created a Department of Fisheries to manage the industry. 
At the time there were 191 licensed boats and 401 fishermen operating 
in the state’s fishing sector. As the industry continued to expand and 
develop, so did the need for a united voice.

The Western Australian Fishing Industry Council (WAFIC) was developed for industry by 
industry - to represent the interests of the seafood, pearling and aquaculture sectors. 
The organisation was originally devised by a group of like-minded individuals, who 
recognised that WA’s seafood industry was fragmented and needed a united voice 
capable of debating and presenting settled positions on a range of issues, including 
encouraging a legislative and policy environment, to enable industry to grow.

The organisation has been remarkably 
stable over the years but has had 
changing priorities in response to varying 
industry and societal demands. WAFIC’s 
current priorities include, resource 
access and securing social licence to 
operate.

Often, it is too easy to focus on the 
challenges that the WA seafood 
industry has confronted throughout 
the years. 50 years of WAFIC is a timely 
reminder to reflect and celebrate 
the achievements of industry from 
production, research, business, training 
and environmental stewardship. For 
many across the world, the Western 
Australian seafood sector is regarded 
as one the best for its sustainability and 
clean green environment – something all 
stakeholders should be proud of.

Benny Bellotti beach seining for whiting and sea mullet in Shark Bay.
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Research Opportunities - WA Research 
Advisory Committee (WARAC)

The Fisheries Research and 
Development Corporation (FRDC) 
supports a network of Research 
Advisory Committees (RACs) 
located in each state and the 
Northern Territory. The RACs have 
an extremely important role in 
maximising the efficiency of the 
FRDC’s planning and funding 
process.

The WARAC was established in July 
2016 and membership covers a range of 
people with experience across the vast 
sectors of our industry. The WARAC was 
immediately tasked with developing a 
strategic WA Research and Development 
(R&D) plan listing goals and research 
priorities for the WA fishing, pearling and 
aquaculture industries. 

The WARAC seeks industry R&D priorities 
through sector bodies or fishery 
management meetings to ensure it is 

responsive to the needs of stakeholders 
within WA. The WARAC ensures that 
priorities are balanced across the 
programs of the FRDC research, 
development and extension plan and 
contains a mix of basic and applied R&D.

The WARAC role is to maintain a strategic 
direction and be responsive to changing 
circumstances. This also includes 
setting R&D priorities to maximise the 
opportunities of investment to meet 
identified priorities, avoid duplication and 
achieve the greatest potential return.

There are three (3) calls made throughout 
the year inviting R&D project applications 
from stakeholders to address identified 
WA priorities. The WARAC assess project 
expressions of interest against priorities 
in the R&D plan and provides project 
investment advice to the FRDC Board 
against a defined budget. 

The investment pool was around $1.445 
million for 2017/18. 

There are currently thirty-seven (37) 
projects underway approved under the 
WARAC funding pool. 

The WARAC participates in the FRDC 
Annual Planning Workshop to promote 
collaboration between researchers, 
fisheries managers and fishing industry 
interests, among other state jurisdictions 
and considers other R&D funding 
opportunities outside FRDC.

Brett McCallum  
WARAC Chair

Nicole Stubing 
WARAC Manager,  
nicole.stubing@frdc.com.au



Industry Consultation Unit 
(ICU) Update

WAFIC recently signed a 
new three-year service level 
agreement with DPRID through  
to 2021. 

The initial service level agreement (SLA) 
between the then Department of Fisheries 
(the funder) and WAFIC (service provider) 
was signed in 2011 for a four-year 
agreement for the provision of specific 
consultation services. This reflected a 
desire, by the then Minister for Fisheries, 
for a coordinated approach to be adopted 
by the commercial industry on relevant 
fisheries related matters.

The WAFIC Industry Consultation Business 
Unit (known as the ICU) was created in 
2012 to support the SLA.

On completion of the initial agreement, a 
further agreement was signed in 2015 for 
three years through to 2018. 

The SLA ICU model should be used as a 
blueprint for the potential of allowing a 
non-government agency to be engaged 
for other government services activities.

During the 2017/18 year the ICU facilitated 
25 Fisheries Management Meetings, 
predominantly held in Perth. Other 
locations also included Albany, Geraldton, 
Dongara, Denham and Broome. The ICU 
was also involved in undertaking four 
(4) individual statutory consultations to 
mainly amend various management plans. 
In addition to these the ICU facilitated 
twenty (20) Specific Purpose Consultation 
(SPC) meetings in Perth and in various 
regional areas.

The Shark Bay Crab and Gascoyne 
Demersal Working Groups were two forms 
of specifically targeted consultations 
the ICU facilitated in 2017/18 and 

were considered a success in terms of 
outcomes achieved. The working groups 
consisted of license holders representing 
both fisheries, representatives from the 
Recreational and Charter Boat Industry 
and research and management staff from 
DPIRD. 

The success of these working groups 
greatly assisted DPIRD in providing 
Ministerial advice and represented an 
ideal way to progress reform and the 
decision-making process. The working 
group concept will be progressed in 
other fisheries allowing the Management 
Meeting to be a forum for information 
exchange between all license holders and 
DPIRD. It will also be used as mechanism 
for carrying out and delivering on actions 
items. 

In addition, consultation under the new 
Aquatic Resources Management Act 
(ARMA) will require a broader level of 
stakeholder engagement and with recent 
success of the two working groups, the 
WAFIC ICU has the capability of playing a 
more significant role when the new Act 
comes in place.

The ICU in the later part of 2017 conducted 
the inaugural Southern Seafood Producers 
Association (WA) Annual General Meeting 
and was formally recognised by their 
newly formed Management Committee 
for the support the WAFIC ICU provided in 
achieving the successful formation of the 
group.

In the past year the ICU said farewell to 
Executive Assistant Megan Cundy after 
a period of nearly eighteen months and 
welcomed Basia Littlejohn. The ICU was 
very fortunate to secure Basia’s services, 
as she had previous Industry experience, 
in WAFIC’s Administration area.

Basia has proven to be an outstanding 
addition to the team and given the 
opportunity is more than capable of 
crafting out a successful career in 
representing, supporting and advocating 
on behalf of the commercial fishing 
industry.

Angus Callander  
ICU Executive Officer

INDUSTRY CONSULTATION UNIT

Angus Callander 
Executive Officer

Basia Littlejohn 
Executive Assistant

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council 2017 / 2018 Annual Report

39



40

This approach recognises safety and training needs to be specific to each and every 
individual fishing vessel or aquaculture operation. One size does not fit all.

This fits neatly alongside the separate workplace safety legislative requirements 
applying to a vessel where owner/operators need to identify hazards, then measure 
and mitigate risk using active procedures i.e. training drills and formal safety 
management protocols.

A priority for WAFIC is to communicate to industry ‘how to’ access necessary safety 
information such as guidelines, support expertise, and legislative requirements. This 
is to enable owners and operators (skippers and crew) to understand and apply the 
government safety and health information to fit their specific vessel operations.

WAFIC also actively participates in government consultation processes on marine 
safety and workplace safety matters to ensure the WA fishing industry interests are 
clearly articulated and understood by authorities.

WAFIC communicates to industry on 
both marine safety and workplace 
safety as follows:

• Updates of issues of relevance to 
industry are published in WAFIC’s 
monthly newsletter; 

•  Latest news and important links 
are regularly updated on the WAFIC 
website;

• Analysis of government proposals, 
consultation with industry and 
development of submissions on 
behalf of the WA fishing industry;

•  Fishing industry sector body 
groups are regularly informed and 
requested to provide targeted 
comments for inclusion in 
submissions;

• Direct email to members is carried 
out on matters of significance; and

• Co-ordination between various 
government agencies and industry, 
including attending sector body 
meetings, port visits and annual 
fishery management meetings.

40

Marine safety in Australia is now under the single jurisdiction of the 
Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA). 

The AMSA policy and regulation approach is focused on ‘trust and 
verify’ which places greater responsibility on the vessel owner and 
it’s operators (skipper and crew) to manage safety on a vessel. 
Those demonstrating consistent safe vessel operations will be 
rewarded with a reduced regulatory compliance (e.g. surveys) 
resulting in reduced red tape and cost to the vessel. 

Safety and Training

Brett McCallum 
Bresal Consulting
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The past 12 months has seen completion 
of the changeover of management of 
marine safety away from the Department 
of Transport (WA) to AMSA. This change 
is the outcome from a whole-of-
government approach to harmonise 
transport activities across Australia to 
reduce red tape and cost, and to improve 
safety.

AMSA took over full government 
management regulatory responsibility on 
1st July 2018. 

WAFIC is actively involved in high-level 
discussions on this management change 
with direct representation on two AMSA 
national advisory groups:

• Domestic Commercial Vessel Industry 
Advisory Committee; and 

• Fishing Industry Advisory Committee.

An early change introduced by AMSA is 
the ‘opening up’ of the vessel survey 
arrangements allowing private accredited 
surveyors to complete vessel surveys. 
The WA government will no longer provide 
surveyors.

From 1st July 2016, all vessels are 
required by law to have on-board a Safety 
Management System (SMS) specifically 
designed for their vessel operations. 
An SMS must be inclusive of a hazard 
identification, risk assessment and an 
applied management approach to reduce 
the identified risks through training all 
crew in vessel operations and emergency 
procedures. WAFIC has been providing 
industry with continuous directions 
to access SMS guidelines, templates 
and appropriate expertise to assist in 
developing individual vessel SMS plans. 

Into the future, failure to hold a current 
SMS on-board a vessel and demonstrate 
active application of the SMS processes 
and practice of emergency procedures 
may result in the vessel being prohibited 
from going to sea.

WAFIC has continued to strongly 
advocate for a practical approach to 
the review of competencies for skippers 
and engineers tickets in Part D of the 
new marine safety legislation. AMSA 
announced in January 2018 the near 
completion of their ‘back to basics’ 
review of the crew qualifications 

framework and that an industry 
consultation process will commence 
in July 2018, including an industry 
reference group. 

This year WAFIC has continued to co-
ordinate a national industry response to 
a review of the maritime industry training 
package for lower complexity tickets.

Under the new national marine safety 
laws [National Standard for Commercial 
Vessels (NSCV)] it is a requirement that 
the ‘vessel stability documentation’ is 
on-board at all times.

The stability documentation must 
reflect the current configuration of 
the vessel and be consistent with the 
class and operation of the vessel. WAFIC 
has worked with the WA Department of 
Transport to provide a process for vessel 
owners to obtain stability documentation 
for their vessel.

WAFIC has been intimately involved in the 
campaign to achieve government support 
transition funding for industry facing 
introduction of AMSA levy fees based 
on cost recovery from 1st July 2018. In 
response to industry feedback, the state 
and Commonwealth Governments will 
provide total funding of $112.4 million to 
assist the transition.

This additional funding means no levy will 
be charged to industry for the first three 
years of service delivery under AMSA 
2018/19 – 2010/21. 

This will provide two more years for AMSA 
to engage with industry on a range of 
important matters including:

• the most efficient and effective ways 
to deliver services to industry;

•  opportunities to reduce costs to 
industry without compromising safety; 
and,

•  ways to reduce administrative burden 
so industry can get on with the job.

WAFIC has continued a ‘watching 
brief’ on the introduction of the new 
WA Occupational Health and Safety 
legislation. The State government has 
just released a consultation draft for 
industry consideration.

WAFIC has also provided two 
representatives on a diving review 
working group established by 
Commission of Safety and Health (WA). 
This review will include the pearling, 
abalone and aquaculture industries 
and will consider the necessity for a 
formal set of guidelines to be included 
in regulations. WAFIC continues to push 
the industry argument that ‘one size 
does not fit all’ and that diving systems 
must be specific to each fishery. Industry 
is seeking the government provides 
guidelines on minimum dive requirements 
that can then be applied to specific 
codes of practice to each of the pearling, 
fishing or aquaculture industries.

The past 12 months has seen a coronial 
inquiry held into three fatalities from 
the loss of the trawler ‘Returner’ in the 
Pilbara.  

Many thanks to Chris Battel, WA 
AMSA Liaison Officer for his tireless 
consultation efforts.

“WAFIC focuses 

resources on 

communicating to the 

fishing and aquaculture 

industry how to 

access the necessary 

information, guidelines, 

support expertise and 

legislative requirements 

to enable owners and 

operators (skippers and 

crew) to understand and 

apply the government 

safety and health 

information to fit 

their specific vessel 

operations.”
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SeSAF E Project

An important new initiative,  
the SeSAFE project is designed 
to raise awareness and improve 
safety performance in the 
Australian fishing and aquaculture 
industry.

Commencing in March this year, SeSAFE 
has received funding from Austral 
Fisheries, FRDC, AMSA, the commercial 
fishing industry, and WAFIC. The aim of 
the project is to deliver pre-sea safety 
training to commercial fishers and 
aquaculture workers following a spate of 
recent fatalities on commercial fishing 
boats. We are working towards zero 
deaths at sea, a significant reduction 
in workplace injuries and 100 per cent 
compliance with safety regulations.

A major component of the project is a 
Learning Management System (LMS) 
comprising of multiple modules that 
cover all aspects of safety at sea. These 
modules include workplace health and 
safety law, man overboard training, 
fatigue management, hand safety, 
abandon ship and fishery-specific safety 
issues such as safe handling of lobster 
pots or deploying trawl gear.

While the provision of safety training via 
onboard musters and drills is increasingly 
the norm these days, the reality is that 
the timing, frequency, and content of this 

training is inconsistent between boats. 
There is also limited opportunity to deliver 
refresher training of experienced crew 
beyond what occurs on the deck, or to 
cover safety training that is not part of 
a safety drill such as manual handling or 
heat related illness.

The LMS modules are designed to 
overcome these challenges. Crew can 
access each of the four (4) minute 
long modules online and conclude by 
answering multiple-choice questions or 
questions that require a yes/no or true/ 
false response. An important feature 
of the LMS is an ability to select which 
modules are to be completed by specific 
crew members - and the timing of their 
completion. The question results are sent 
to the boat owner or skipper to validate 
satisfactory completion of each module 
and crew comprehension. This is a first-
step in the safety induction process and 
contributes to a duty of care that an 
employer is required to demonstrate. 

Fishing now ranks as the most hazardous 
occupation in the country - deemed 
twenty-five (25) times more dangerous 
than the mining industry. Boat owners 
or skippers now have a way to reduce 
this risk by requiring crew to complete 
a selection or all of the modules prior to 
boarding the boat. There is also the option 
to complete remaining modules at sea to 
compliment at-sea training. As modules 

are easily and quickly downloaded to 
electronic devices (i.e. mobile phones), 
they are useful when crew are required at 
short notice and have had limited or no 
prior safety training.

The LMS offers relevance and accessibility 
to many of the traditional barriers to 
safety training for fishers and aquaculture 
workers. The cost of accessing the 
modules of the LMS is also attractive, 
being a modest $6 per person per month. 
The remaining cost is that associated with 
managing the online delivery of modules 
to crew and the maintenance of records 
of completion. This is likely to take only a 
few hours each week depending on the 
number of crew being trained.

The SeSAFE project is being led by Steve 
Eayrs, an ex-commercial fisher and 
previously a fishing technologist at the 
Australian Maritime College. Additional 
information can be found on the project 
website, www.sesafe.com.au. 

Steve Eayrs 
Project Manager - SeSAFE

Commercial fishing is one of the most dangerous 
occupations in Australia. Conditions can change from 
ideal to disastrous in an instant, with an average of  
25 fatalities a year. In response to these dangers,  
the SeSafe project was created. 
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Summary of FRDC Investment in WA

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (FRDC) uses 
several different mechanisms to ensure its funding is targeted, 
relevant and allocated both effectively and fairly. These include 
Industry Partnership Agreements (IPA) with the Western Rock Lobster 
Council (WRLC), pearling industry, the Australian Council of Prawn 
Fisheries (ACPF), as well as the Western Australian Research Advisory 
Committee (WA RAC). 

WA projects funded by the FRDC cover 
a broad range of research topics 
addressing various needs and fisheries 
within the state. In the financial year 
of 2017-2018, with an allocation to 
the state of over $3,300,000, the FRDC 
funded projects worth a combined value 
of over $2,300,000 in Western Australia. 
Several areas of research investment are 
highlighted below:

People development or building skills and 
capability within the seafood sector are 
an important component of the FRDC’s 
investment portfolio. In WA, the FRDC 
supported Morgan Hand’s participation in 
the National Seafood Industry Leadership 
Program (project no. 2017-003) and travel 
bursaries sent several individuals to 
Canada to attend the world recreational 
fishing conference in July 2017, where 
they learnt about licensing and research 
within the Canadian system (project no. 
2016-129). 

Insect protein for aquaculture feed is 
an area that holds great promise, in 
reducing conversion rates of feed to fish 
production, and in reducing aquaculture’s 
dependence on fishmeal. The FRDC is 
supporting Perth-based company Future 
Green solutions to develop food pellets 
from insect meal and determine the 
growth performance of rainbow trout 
and barramundi from insect derived feed 
(project no. 2016-114). 

On the environmental front, the FRDC has 
funded several projects. For example, 
one project is being undertaken to 
develop new approaches to monitor the 
population status of Australian sea lions 
in WA (project no. 2017-119), and in 
another CSIRO scientists are assessing 
the long-term recovery of trawled marine 
communities. Projects funded through 
the WA RAC are looking to untangle the 
relationships between fishery recruitment 
and environmental variability (project nos. 
2015-026 & 2015-027). 

Projects funded through the Western 
Rock Lobster Council IPA, over the 
last financial year, include: A project 
to develop a strong current warning 
system and learn more about the current 
regime that influences the Western Rock 
Lobster fishery (project no. 2017-147); 
to understand the markets for Western 
Rock Lobster (project nos. 2017-137 & 
2017-138); to quantify the economic 
contribution of the Western Rock Lobster 
Fishery to Western Australia’s economy 
(project no. 2017-084); to understand 
more about Rock Lobster catch rates 
(project nos. 2016-260 & 2016-124) 
and; to assess the feasibility of holding 
the 12th International conference 
and Workshop on Lobster Biology and 
Management in which is to be held in 
Perth in 2020 (project no. 2016-164). 

FRDC has also supported several projects 
which are being overseen by WAFIC. 
These include projects aimed at reducing 
fatalities and deaths at sea that are part 
of the FRDC’s Safety and Welfare Initiative 
(project nos. 2017-194 & 2017-231). 
WAFIC is also managing a FRDC program 
to develop processes which the seafood 
sector and oil and gas companies can 
use to work together and avoid conflict 
over the ocean’s resources (project no. 
2017-246).

To learn more about the FRDC and the 
research it funds visit www.frdc.com.au

Crispian Ashby 
General Manager Research and 
Investment - FRDC

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council 2017 / 2018 Annual Report
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

NOTE

2018

$

2017

$

INCOME

INCOME FROM GVP 2,315,188 2,041,257

WATER LEASE FEE 50,000 50,000

INTEREST RECEIVED 51,122 47,344

MEMBER SUBSCRIPTIONS 16,200 15,900

OTHER INCOME 88,972 72,746

OTHER TRADING REVENUE 1,253 47,264

PROJECT MANAGEMENT FEES 106,379 75,500

REIMBURSEMENTS 56,324 43,511

2,685,438 2,393,522

EXPENDITURE

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 37,583 46,038

EMPLOYMENT EXPENSES 1,006,012 976,827

LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - 25,757

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 5 404,398 332,488

RENTAL EXPENSE 136,816 138,450

SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS 6 935,645 743,991

WRLC SPECIAL GRANT - 25,000

2,520,454 2,288,551

WAFIC CURRENT YEAR SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) 164,984 104,971

PROJECTS

PROJECTS (NET) 3 191,171 (1,482,468)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) BEFORE INCOME TAX 356,155 (1,377,497)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE - -

CURRENT YEAR SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) AFTER INCOME TAX 356,155 (1,377,497)

RETAINED PROFIT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1,094,112 2,471,609

ADD: PROJECT RESERVE 10 569,582 911,200

ADD: INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVE 11 101,294 -

RETAINED PROFITS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2,121,143 2,005,312

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
1

Financial
 Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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1

Financial
 Statements
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Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

NOTE

2018

$

2017

$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7 2,391,545 2,478,346

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 8 130,274 14,641

PREPAYMENTS (INSURANCE) 9,747 8,388

ACCRUED INCOME 1,175 2,600

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,532,741 2,503,975

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE AND MOTOR VEHICLES 9 124,611 159,207

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 124,611 159,207

TOTAL ASSETS 2,657,352 2,663,182

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 67,857 60,865

CURRENT PROJECT LIABILITIES 5,375 12,800

OTHER PROVISIONS 10 357,500 488,800

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 70,021 62,295

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 500,753 624,760

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 35,456 33,110

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 35,456 33,110

TOTAL LIABILITIES 536,209 657,870

NET ASSETS 2,121,143 2,005,312

MEMBERS' FUNDS

INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVES 11 101,294 -

PROJECT RESERVE 10 569,582 911,200

RETAINED SURPLUS 1,450,267 1,094,112

TOTAL MEMBERS' FUND 2,121,143 2,005,312

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
2
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

RETAINED
EARNINGS

$

RESERVES

$

2018

TOTAL

$

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2017 1,094,112 - 1,094,112

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) FOR THE YEAR 356,155 - 356,155

PROJECT RESERVE - 569,582 569,582

INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVES - 101,294 101,294

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018 1,450,267 670,876 2,121,143

RETAINED
EARNINGS

$

RESERVES

$

2017

TOTAL

$

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2016 2,471,609 - 2,471,609

SURPLUS/(DEFICIENCY) FOR THE YEAR (1,377,497) - (1,377,497)

PROJECT RESERVE - 911,200 911,200

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017 1,094,112 911,200 2,005,312

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
3
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

NOTE

2018

$

2017

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

RECEIPTS FROM CUSTOMERS 2,654,578 2,541,563

PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES (2,738,391) (2,342,099)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 (83,813) 199,464

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (2,988) (59,214)

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,988) (59,214)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS HELD (86,801) 140,250

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,478,346 2,338,096

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 7 2,391,545 2,478,346

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FORM PART OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
4

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COVER WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. AS AN
INDIVIDUAL ENTITY. WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. IS A NOT-FOR-PROFIT ASSOCIATION
INCORPORATED IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA UNDER THE ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION ACT (WA) 2015 ('THE
ACT').

THE FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL
INC. IS AUSTRALIAN DOLLARS.

COMPARATIVES ARE CONSISTENT WITH PRIOR YEARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD, THE ASSOCIATION IS NOT A REPORTING ENTITY SINCE THERE ARE
UNLIKELY TO EXIST USERS OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT WHO ARE NOT ABLE TO COMMAND THE
PREPARATION OF REPORTS TAILORED SO AS TO SATISFY SPECIFICALLY ALL OF THEIR INFORMATION
NEEDS. THESE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PREPARED TO MEET THE
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RECOGNITION AND
MEASUREMENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND ACCOUNTING
INTERPRETATIONS, AND THE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF AASB 101 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS, AASB 107 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, AASB 108 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS AND AASB 1054 AUSTRALIAN ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A) INCOME TAX

THE ASSOCIATION IS EXEMPT FROM INCOME TAX UNDER DIVISION 50 OF THE INCOME TAX
ASSESSMENT ACT 1997.

(B) REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

REVENUE IS RECOGNISED WHEN THE AMOUNT OF THE REVENUE CAN BE MEASURED RELIABLY, IT
IS PROBABLE THAT ECONOMIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATED WITH THE TRANSACTION WILL FLOW TO THE
ASSOCIATION AND SPECIFIC CRITERIA RELATING TO THE TYPE OF REVENUE AS NOTED BELOW,
HAS BEEN SATISFIED.

REVENUE IS MEASURED AT THE FAIR VALUE OF THE CONSIDERATION RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE
AND IS PRESENTED NET OF RETURNS, DISCOUNTS AND REBATES.

ALL REVENUE IS STATED NET OF THE AMOUNT OF GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST). 

SUBSCRIPTIONS

REVENUE FROM THE PROVISION OF MEMBERSHIP SUBSCRIPTIONS IS RECOGNISED ON A STRAIGHT
LINE BASIS OVER THE FINANCIAL YEAR.

OTHER INCOME

OTHER INCOME IS RECOGNISED ON AN ACCRUALS BASIS WHEN THE ASSOCIATION IS ENTITLED TO
IT.

5
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(C) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

REVENUES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS ARE RECOGNISED NET OF THE AMOUNT OF GST, EXCEPT
WHERE THE AMOUNT OF GST INCURRED IS NOT RECOVERABLE FROM THE AUSTRALIAN TAX
OFFICE. IN THESE CIRCUMSTANCES, THE GST IS RECOGNISED AS PART OF THE COST OF
ACQUISITION OF THE ASSET OR AS PART OF AN ITEM OF THE EXPENSE. RECEIVABLES AND
PAYABLES IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ARE SHOWN INCLUSIVE OF GST.

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EACH CLASS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT IS CARRIED AT COST OR FAIR VALUE LESS,
WHERE APPLICABLE, ANY ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT.

ITEMS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ACQUIRED FOR NIL OR NOMINAL CONSIDERATION
HAVE BEEN RECORDED AT THE ACQUISITION DATE FAIR VALUE.

DEPRECIATION

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, IS DEPRECIATED ON A STRAIGHT-LINE BASIS OVER THE
ASSETS USEFUL LIFE TO THE ASSOCIATION, COMMENCING WHEN THE ASSET IS READY FOR USE.

(E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISES CASH ON HAND, DEMAND DEPOSITS AND SHORT-TERM
INVESTMENTS WHICH ARE READILY CONVERTIBLE TO KNOWN AMOUNTS OF CASH AND WHICH ARE
SUBJECT TO AN INSIGNIFICANT RISK OF CHANGE IN VALUE.

(F) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PROVISION IS MADE FOR THE ASSOCIATION'S LIABILITY FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ARISING FROM
SERVICES RENDERED BY EMPLOYEES TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD. EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS THAT ARE EXPECTED TO BE WHOLLY SETTLED WITHIN ONE YEAR HAVE BEEN MEASURED
AT THE AMOUNTS EXPECTED TO BE PAID WHEN THE LIABILITY IS SETTLED.

3 PROJECTS (NET)

2018

$

2017

$

- PROJECT RECEIPTS 84,709 20,889

- PROJECT PAYMENTS 478,086 (103,357)

- PROVISIONS FOR PROJECT EXPENSE - CURRENT (16,826) (488,800)

- PROVISIONS FOR PROJECT EXPENSE - NON-CURRENT (354,798) (911,200)

TOTAL PROJECT SURPLUS (DEFICIENCY) 191,171 (1,482,468)

PROJECT TRANSACTIONS HAVE BEEN GROUPED TOGETHER AND CONSOLIDATED INTO TOTAL PROJECT
RECEIPTS AND PROJECT PAYMENTS. IF MEMBERS WISH TO HAVE A COPY OF THE INDIVIDUAL PROJECT
PAYMENTS AND RECEIPTS, THEY ARE AVAILABLE ON REQUEST.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

4 EXCLUDED PROJECTS

THE ASSOCIATION MANAGES CERTAIN PROJECTS ON BEHALF OF OTHER ENTITIES. THESE ARE
CONSIDERED EXTERNAL TO THE OPERATIONS OF WAFIC AND ALL TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
RELATING TO THESE ARE EXCLUDED FROM THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

THE ASSOCIATION IS THE CUSTODIAN OF $851,178 IN RELATION TO THESE PROJECTS.

5 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES BREAKDOWN

2018

$

2017

$

ACCOUNTING FEES 782 750

ADVERTISING 1,205 1,202

AUDIT FEES 13,650 13,300

BANK FEES 1,959 1,727

COMPUTER MAINTENANCE 32,091 27,560

CONSULTANTS 35,402 27,839

FREMANTLE OFFICE

- CLEANING 10,422 10,958

- COUNCIL RATES 13,598 13,138

- ELECTRICITY 12,903 10,428

- EQUIPMENT 4,508 3,260

- LAND TAX 24,740 27,553

- OFFICE OPERATIONS 89,259 67,907

- REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 312 1,937

- WATER RATES 2,695 2,548

INSURANCES 13,575 12,945

LEGAL EXPENSES 5,550 10,190

MEETING 49,747 22,919

MEMBERSHIPS 17,585 11,232

MOTOR VEHICLES 7,813 5,447

TELEPHONE, FAX & INTERNET 17,810 20,243

TRAVELING EXPENSES 48,792 39,405

TOTAL OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES BREAKDOWN 404,398 332,488
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

6 ALLOCATION TO SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS

2018

$

2017

$

ABALONE INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WA 13,531 15,215

AQUACULTURE COUNCIL OF WA 60,000 60,000

PEARL PRODUCERS ASSOCIATION 57,284 57,592

SHARK BAY PRAWN TRAWLER OPERATORS ASSOCIATION 46,810 42,434

SOUTHERN SEAFOOD PRODUCERS (WA) ASSOCIATION 125,000 -

WESTERN ROCK LOBSTER COUNCIL 633,020 568,750

TOTAL ALLOCATION TO SECTOR BODY PAYMENTS 935,645 743,991

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018

$

2017

$

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND 85,367 51,448

CASH RESERVE 362,698 182,106

TERM DEPOSITS 1,943,480 2,244,792

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,391,545 2,478,346

8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

TRADE RECEIVABLES 125,785 8,269

GST RECEIVABLE - 1,101

REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT 4,489 5,271

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 130,274 14,641
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

9 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE AND MOTOR VEHICLES

2018

$

2017

$

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

AT COST 46,154 43,167

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (38,571) (31,769)

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7,583 11,398

FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS

AT COST 178,234 178,234

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (104,477) (86,259)

TOTAL FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS 73,757 91,975

MOTOR VEHICLES

AT COST 86,944 86,944

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (43,673) (31,110)

TOTAL MOTOR VEHICLES 43,271 55,834

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE  AND MOTOR VEHICLES 124,611 159,207

10 PROJECT RESERVE

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 TOTAL

$ $ $ $

PROJECTS

ACWA (SHELLFISH HATCHERY) 69,500 69,500 69,500 208,500

ACWA (FUNDING FOR CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES) 10,000 - - 10,000

BCS & SOCIAL LICENCE TO OPERATE 58,000 34,000 34,000 126,000

ROTTNEST ISLAND SEAFOOD FESTIVAL 10,000 - - 10,000

SEAFOOD TRAIL 20,000 - - 20,000

SSPWA 160,000 160,000 111,382 431,382

WA SEAFOOD AWARDS CONTRIBUTION - 15,000 - 15,000

WAFIC 50TH 30,000 - - 30,000

STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION PROGRAM - 38,100 38,100 76,200

TOTAL PROJECT RESERVE 357,500 316,600 252,982 927,082

THE FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (FARM) SUB-COMMITTEE IDENTIFIED THE NECESSITY TO
FURTHER IMPROVE THE MECHANICS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BY PROVIDING AN ENTRY INTO THE
ACCOUNTS THAT IDENTIFIES KEY PROJECTS THAT HAVE BEEN APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF WAFIC. 

THE FARM SUB-COMMITTEE AGREED TO ALLOCATE FUNDS FOR STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION PROJECTS
TO FACILITATE THE ORGANISATION’S LONG TERM STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT
REQUIREMENTS. THE LONG TERM PROVISIONING HAS BEEN RAISED THROUGH EQUITY RESERVES. THE
FUNDING OF THESE AND OTHER CURRENT PROJECTS ARE ABLE TO BE DRAWN FROM FUNDS ON DEPOSIT.

11 INDUSTRY CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT RESERVE

ORIGINALLY DONATED BY INDUSTRY FOR INDUSTRY CAMPAIGNS.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

12 CONTINGENCIES

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD, THE ASSOCIATION DID NOT HAVE ANY CONTINGENCIES AT 30 JUNE 2018.

13 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

RECONCILIATION OF RESULT FOR THE YEAR TO CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

2018

$

2017

$

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 356,155 (1,352,496)

ADD BACK NON-CASH FLOWS

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 37,583 46,038

PROJECT LIABILITY MOVEMENTS (63,506) 488,800

PROJECT RESERVE MOVEMENTS (240,324) 911,200

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 115,632 102,196

CHANGE IN OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (66) (24,957)

CHANGE IN LIABILITIES (121,661) 28,683

CASHFLOW FROM OPERATIONS 83,813 199,464

14 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

THE FINANCIAL REPORT WAS AUTHORISED FOR ISSUE ON 29 OCTOBER 2018 BY THE BOARD.

NO MATTERS OR CIRCUMSTANCES HAVE ARISEN SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR WHICH
SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECTED OR MAY SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT THE OPERATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATION, THE
RESULTS OF THOSE OPERATIONS OR THE STATE OF AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATION IN FUTURE FINANCIAL
YEARS.

15 ASSOCIATION DETAILS

THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ASSOCIATION IS:

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

PO BOX 1605

FREMANTLE WA 6959

16 UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS

UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS (FUNDS IN ADVANCE) AT YEAR END ARE CAPITALISED IN THE ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES STATEMENT WHERE THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED THAT THE UNEXPENDED AMOUNTS
ARE COMMITTED TO FUTURE EXPENDITURE. 

PREPAID PROJECT EXPENDITURE INCURRED PRIOR TO THE RECEIPT OF PROJECT INCOME IS OFFSET
AGAINST ANY LIABILITY FOR UNEXPENDED PROJECT FUNDS.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

17 BOARD MEETINGS

MEETINGS HELD & ATTENDED

MEETINGS
ELIGIBLE 

TO ATTEND

2017/18

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

2017/18

MEETINGS
ELIGIBLE

TO ATTEND

2016/17

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

2016/17

ARNO VERBOON 1 1 1 1

BRUCE COCKMAN 6 4 6 6

CLAYTON NELSON 1 1 6 6

DAMIEN BELL - - 2 1

GEORGE KAILIS 6 5 6 5

JAMES CLEMENT 6 4 4 4

JOHN HUTTON 6 2 6 5

KATIE HODSON-THOMAS 5 5 - -

KIM CHANCE - - 3 3

KYM COFFEY 1 1 6 6

LEONIE NOBLE 5 4 - -

NATHAN ADAMS 6 5 6 6

NIC SOFOULIS - - 2 1

TERRY MOUCHEMORE 6 5 4 4

TONY WESTERBERG 5 3 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

THE BOARD HAS DETERMINED THAT THE ASSOCIATION IS NOT A REPORTING ENTITY AND THAT THIS SPECIAL
PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT SHOULD BE PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCOUNTING POLICIES
OUTLINED IN NOTE 2 TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

IN THE OPINION OF THE BOARD THE FINANCIAL REPORT AS SET OUT ON PAGES 1 TO 4. 

1. PRESENTS FAIRLY THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 AND ITS PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON THAT DATE.

2. AT THE DATE OF THIS STATEMENT, THERE ARE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT WESTERN
AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. WILL BE ABLE TO PAY ITS DEBTS AS AND WHEN THEY FALL
DUE.

THIS STATEMENT IS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD AND IS SIGNED FOR AND ON
BEHALF OF THE BOARD BY:

.........................................................................................
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. CHAIR

 .........................................................................................
FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE CHAIR

DATED THIS .............................. DAY OF .............................. 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WESTERN
AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

OPINION

WE HAVE AUDITED THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL REPORT, BEING A SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORT
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC. (THE ASSOCIATION), WHICH COMPRISES THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2018, THE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, THE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AND THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR THEN ENDED, AND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING A SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, AND
MANAGEMENT'S ASSERTION STATEMENT.

IN OUR OPINION, THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE ASSOCIATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30
JUNE 2018 IS PREPARED, IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION
ACT (WA) 2015.

BASIS FOR OPINION

WE CONDUCTED OUR AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH AUSTRALIAN AUDITING STANDARDS. OUR
RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THOSE STANDARDS ARE FURTHER DESCRIBED IN THE AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT SECTION OF OUR REPORT. WE ARE
INDEPENDENT OF THE ASSOCIATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE REQUIREMENTS OF
THE ETHICAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACCOUNTING PROFESSIONAL AND ETHICAL STANDARDS BOARD'S APES
110 CODE OF ETHICS FOR PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS (THE CODE) THAT ARE RELEVANT TO OUR AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL REPORT IN AUSTRALIA. WE HAVE ALSO FULFILLED OUR OTHER ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE. 

WE BELIEVE THAT THE AUDIT EVIDENCE WE HAVE OBTAINED IS SUFFICIENT AND APPROPRIATE TO PROVIDE A
BASIS FOR OUR OPINION.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

WE DRAW ATTENTION TO NOTE 1 OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT, WHICH DESCRIBES THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING.
THE FINANCIAL REPORT IS PREPARED TO ASSIST THE ASSOCIATION TO FULFIL THEIR FINANCIAL REPORTING
RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE ASSOCIATIONS ACT.. AS A RESULT, THE FINANCIAL REPORT MAY NOT BE
SUITABLE FOR ANOTHER PURPOSE. OUR REPORT IS INTENDED SOLELY FOR THE ASSOCIATION AND SHOULD
NOT BE DISTRIBUTED TO OR USED BY PARTIES OTHER THAN THE ASSOCIATION. OUR OPINION IS NOT
MODIFIED IN RESPECT OF THIS MATTER.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

WE DRAW ATTENTION TO NOTE 10 OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT, WHICH ILLUSTRATES THE ADDITION OF A
PROVISION FOR FUTURE PROJECTS. THE ALLOCATED FUNDS ARE FOR STRATEGIC AND EDUCATION
PROJECTS TO FACILITATE THE ORGANISATION’S LONG TERM STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EDUCATION
DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS, APPROVED BY THE FINANCIAL AUDIT RISK MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE.
THE PROVISION RAISED IN RESERVES HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED AS PART OF OUR AUDIT TESTING, AND OUR
OPINION IS NOT MODIFIED IN RESPECT OF THIS MATTER.
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Phone (08) 9432 7777

Fax (08) 9432 7700

Email admin@wafic.org.au
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